

TABLE OF CONTENTS

 INTRODUCTION LITERATURE REVIEW Distribution, habitat and morphological characteristics of marama seed 	1 2 2
2.2. Legume seed microstructure	5
2.3. Protein composition of legumes	7
 2.3.1. Amino acid compositions 2.3.2. Protein types 2.3.3.1. <i>Globulins</i> 2.3.3.2. <i>Subunit composition</i> 2.4. Functional properties of legume proteins 	8 13 14 15 21
2.4.1. Thermal properties2.4.2. Rheological properties2.5. Conclusions	21 25 27
2.6. Hypotheses	28
2.7. Objectives	29
3. RESEARCH	30
3.1. MICROSTRUCTURE OF PROTEIN BODIES IN MARAMA	21
BEAN SPECIES	31
3.1.2 Materials and methods	32
3.1.2.1 Materials	33
3.1.2.2. Sample preparation	33
3123 Proximate composition	34
3.1.2.4 Mineral composition	34
3.1.2.4. Light Microscopy (LM), Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) and Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy (CLSM)	34
3.1.2.5. Proteinase K digestion of marama bean and soya bean cotyledons	35
3.1.2.6. Statistical analyses	35
3.1.3. Results and discussion	35
3.1.3.1. Chemical composition of marama bean	35
3.1.3.2. Microscopy of protein bodies in marama bean	37
3.1.4. Conclusions	43
3.2. COMPOSITION OF MARAMA BEAN PROTEIN 3.2.1. Introduction	44 45
3.2.2. Materials and methods	45
3.2.2.1. Materials	45
3.2.2.2. Chemicals	45
3.2.2.3. Protein preparations	46
3.2.2.4. Amino acid analysis	46
3.2.2.5. SDS-PAGE	47
3.2.2.6. Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis	47



3.2.2.7. Statistical analysis 3.2.3. Results and discussion	47 48
3.2.3.1. Protein contents and yields of marama protein extract	48
3.2.3.2. Amino acid profile	48
3.2.3.3. Protein subunit composition	50
3.2.3.4. Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis	52
3.2.4. Conclusions	57

3.3. THERMAL AND RHEOLOGICAL PROPERTIES OF MARAMA BE	AN
PROTEIN 3.3.1. Introduction	58 59
3.3.2. Materials and methods	59
 3.3.2.1. Chemical composition of protein preparations 3.3.2.2. Thermal properties 3.3.2.3. Rheological properties 3.3.2.4. Rheological properties of peroxidase treatred protein dough 3.3.2.5. Statistical analysis 3.3.3. Results and discussion 	59 59 60 61 62 63
 3.3.3.1. Chemical composition of protein preparations 3.3.3.2. Thermal properties of marama protein 3.3.3.3. Rheological properties of marama protein 3.3.3.4. Rheological properties of peroxidase treated marama protein dough 3.3.4. Conclusions 	63 63 64 70 76
4. GENERAL DISCUSSION4.1. Critical review of methodology	77 77
4.2. Relationship between marama protein composition and functionality	83
4.3. Potential applications	88
5. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	89
6. REFERENCES	91

7. PUBLICATION, PRESENTATIONS AND CONFERENCES ATTENDED BASED ON THIS WORK 111



LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Chemical composition of some legumes	8
Table 2.2 Amino acid composition of some legume proteins	10
Table 2.3 Amino acid distribution based on side chain characteristics in some	
legume proteins	12
Table 2.4 Protein fraction of some legume species	13
Table 3.1.1 Proximate composition of marama bean and soya bean (g/100 g)	36
Table 3.1.2 Mineral composition of marama bean and soya bean (mg/100 g flour)	37
Table 3.2.1 Protein content (dry basis) and protein yield of marama	
and soya protein	48
Table 3.2.2 Amino acid composition (g/100 g protein) of marama and soya flours	
and their respective protein extracts	49
Table 3.2.3 Polypeptide distribution and matches between marama	
and soya proteins	53
Table 3.3.1 Chemical composition of marama protein and	
wheat gluten preparations	63
Table 3.3.2 Rheological properties of marama protein and gluten preparations	70



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Distribution map of T. esculentum and T. fassoglense	3
Figure 2.2 Marama bean seeds (Tylosema esculentum)	4
Figure 2.3 Microstructure of soya bean and peanut parenchyma cells	6
Figure 2.4 Scanning electron microscospy of cowpea parenchyma cells	6
Figure 2.5 Chemical structures of dityrosine (A) and isodityrosine (B)	11
Figure 2.6 The nomenclature and composition of reserved soya bean globulins	16
Figure 2.7 SDS-PAGE of some legume globulins	18
Figure 2.8 A typical proteome map of soya bean (Glycine max)	19
Figure 2.9 Typical DSC profiles of RPI (A), KPI (B), MPI (C) and SPI (D), in the	
absence (black lines) and presence (red lines) of 20 mM DTT	23
Figure 2.10 Association-dissociation of protein at varying pH condition	24
Figure 2.11 Proposed model for the association-dissociation, denaturation and	
reassociation of the high molecular weight protein fractions from various oilseeds	26
Figure 3.1.1 Marama bean T. esculentum (A) and T. fassoglense (B)	33
Figure 3.1.2 Light microscopy of marama and soya bean parenchyma cells stained	
with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R 250	38
Figure 3.1.3 Transmission electron microscopy of protein bodies in marama	
and soya bean parenchyma cells	39
Figure 3.1.4 Confocal laser scanning microscopy of protein bodies	
in marama bean	41
Figure 3.1.5 Transmission electron microscopy of marama and soya beans protein	
bodies treated with Proteinase K	42
Figure 3.2.1 SDS-PAGE profile of defatted marama and soya bean flours under no	n-
reducing (NR) and reducing (R) conditions	51
Figure 3.2.2 SDS-PAGE profile of extracted marama and soya bean proteins under	r
non-reducing (NR) and reducing (R) conditions	52
Figure 3.2.3 Two-dimensional maps of marama (A & C) and soya (B & D) prot	eins
using Immobilized pH gradient (IPG) strips (3-11 Non Linear, NL)	55
Figure 3.2.4 Two-dimensional proteome maps of marama (A & C) and soya (B &	D)
proteins using Immobilized pH gradient (IPG) strips (6-11)	56
Figure 3.3.1 Typical DSC thermograms of marama and soya protein preparations	64



Figure 3.3.2 Typical deformation curves for marama protein, soya protein and glut	ten
at 37.8% water content (flour basis)	65
Figure 3.3.3 Extensibility of marama protein at 45% water content (flour basis) us	ing
a TA-XT2 Texture Analyser	66
Figure 3.3.4 Extensibility of soya protein using a TA-XT2 Texture Analyser	66
Figure 3.3.5 Measuring the stickiness of marama dough with a Texture Analyser	
using SMS/Chen-Hoseney dough stickiness rig (A/DSC) and a 25 mm perspex	
cylinder probe (P/25P)	67
Figure 3.3.6 Typical stickiness curve of marama protein and wheat gluten dough a	t
37.8% water content (flour basis)	67
Figure 3.3.7 Typical mechanical spectra of marama protein and gluten preparation	S
as a function of frequency	69
Figure 3.3.8 Storage modulus (G') of marama protein and gluten treated with (PO)	X)
as a function of time	71
Figure 3.3.9 SDS-PAGE of marama protein and gluten doughs treated with POX	
under reducing (R) and non-reducing (NR) conditions	72
Figure 3.3.10 Reverse – phase HPLC of tyrosine standard	73
Figure 3.3.11 Reverse-phase HPLC of hydrolysed marama and soya proteins	
A: marama, B: soya	73
Figure 3.3.12 Reverse-phase HPLC of hydrolysed marama protein dough treated	
with POX	74
Figure 3.3.13 Reverse-phase HPLC of hydrolysed gluten dough treated with POX	75
Figure 3.3.14 Typical tyrosine and dityrosine MS peaks for marama protein dough	1
incubated with POX	76
Figure 4.1 Reaction of OPA with a primary amine	81
Figure 4.1 Summary diagram of proposed marama protein composition	84
Figure 4.3 Proposed model of composition-functionality relationship and	
applications for marama protein	85
Figure 4.4 Formation of protein-bound tyrosine and dityrosine by a radical	
mechanism	87
Figure 4.5 Mechanism of horseradish POX (HRP) catalysed oxidation of tyrosine	87



1. INTRODUCTION

Marama bean (*Tylosema* species) represents a potentially valuable source of leguminous oilseed protein in Southern Africa. The protein content (30-39%) of marama bean (Amarteifio & Moholo, 1998; Holse, Husted & Hansen, 2010) is similar to that of soya beans (Mujoo, Trinh & Ng, 2003) and peanuts (Venkatachalam & Sathe, 2006). Marama is a drought-tolerant legume that grows in the wild in Botswana, Nambia and parts of South Africa (Gauteng, North-West and Limpopo provinces) (Coetzer & Ross, 1976; Castro, Silveira, Coutinho & Figueiredo, 2005). Therefore, it has great potential as an alternative to these other oilseed legumes. However, marama is not yet commercially cultivated or utilised.

Storage proteins from protein rich sources, particularly soya bean have been applied in food systems to improve functionality. Chemical characteristics of the proteins in terms of subunit compositions and hydrophobicity have been found to significantly influence the functional properties of proteins (Nakai, 1983; Utsumi & Kinsella, 1985). Solubility and conformational behaviour of proteins primarily determine the functionality of proteins in food systems (Tolstoguzov, 1993). Marama bean is an indigenous and under-researched legume. As result, there is a very limited scientific knowledge on the characteristics of its storage protein (Ripperger-Suhler, 1983; Maruatona, Duodu & Minnaar, 2010). From the amino acid profile, the tyrosine content of marama bean flour is almost five times higher than that of soya bean flour (Ripperger-Suhler, 1983; Maruatona *et al.*, 2010). Tyrosine is involved in protein crosslinking (Takasaki *et al.*, 2005). The presence of tyrosine residues in high amount in marama protein may lead to structural stability of its protein as suggested for gluten (Tilley, Benjamin, Bagorogoza Okot-Kotber, Prakash & Kwen, 2001). This may be of interest in food applications.

Marama storage protein, like soya bean protein may be applied in food systems to improve functionality. However, to determine the potential use of marama protein as a functional ingredient in food systems, the knowledge of protein composition and structure as well as its functionality is indispensable.



2. LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter is divided into three parts. The first part is a review on the marama bean. It mainly discusses the distribution, habitat and the morphological characteristics of the marama bean. The second part provides a review on the seed microstructure and protein composition of legumes. The third part is a review on functionality of legume proteins with respect to thermal and rheological properties and how these properties are influenced by the protein composition.

2.1. Distribution, habitat and morphological characteristics of marama seed

The pods, produced by yellow flowers borne in raceme, are firm with varying sizes and shapes. Morphological characteristics of marama seeds are also dependent on the species. Pollen can be used to identify species within the genus *Tylosema* with 95% reliability using dichotomous keys to species (Castro *et al.*, 2005). Detailed taxonomic classification of the various species within the genus *Tylosema* has been provided by Castro *et al.* (2005). The discussion here is limited to distribution and habitat of the species, pods and seed morphology from the identified species. The distribution of the two most commonly found species (*T. esculentum* and *T. fassoglense*) is shown in Figure 2.1.

Tylosema esculentum (Burch) A. Schreib is mostly found in sandy soil, but can be found in flat grass lands especially in dolomite and limestone outcrops, occurring at 900-1100 m altitude. It is naturally distributed in the northern areas of Namibia, Botswana, Gauteng and Limpopo in South Africa. The flowering period is from October/November to March. The pod is ovate to ovate-oblong, sometimes circular with length and width varying from 1.3-1.8 cm and 1.2-1.5 cm, respectively. The seeds contained in pods are brownish black and very dark. The seeds are ovate to circular, 1.3-1.8 cm long and 1.2-1.5 cm wide. Each seed can weigh between 20-30 g. Synonyms for this specie are *Bauhinia esculenta* (Bruch.), *Burkeana esculenta* (Benth) and *B. bainesii* (Coetzer and Ross, 1976; Castro *et al.*, 2005).

Tylosema fassoglense (Schewinf.) Torre & Hillc occurs mainly in eastern and central tropical Africa. It grows in open woodland on red dolomite soil, in forest, and secondary shrub land. *T. fassoglense* sometimes occurs in cultivated areas, on sandy soil, rocky or clay soil, periodically flooded, at 30-2100 m altitude. The flowering



period begins from October/November to February. The pods are obovate and oblong to obovate, with length and width varying between 5-10 cm long and 3-5 cm wide. The seeds are suborbicular or ellipsoid, 1.5-2.8 cm long and 1-2 cm wide. They are chestnut- brown to blackish. Synonyms for this specie are *Bauhinia fassoglensis*, *B. cissoids*, *B. welwitschii* and *B. kirkii* (Coetzer & Ross, 1976; Keegan & van Staden, 1981; Castro *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 2.1 Distribution map of *T. esculentum* (♦), *T. fassoglense* (●) (Castro *et al.*, 2005)

Tylosema humifusum (Pic.Serm. & Roti Mich.) Brenan grows in limestone soil and sandy plains with open vegetation of grass and low shrubs, at 400-1000 mm in Somalia and Northern Kenya. The pods are rhombic, 4.0-4.5 cm long and 2.5-3.5 cm wide. They are brownish with small longitudinal and oriented light-brown grooves. The seeds are sub-circular, compressed with length and width of 20 mm and 18 mm respectively (Coetzer & Ross, 1976; Castro *et al.*, 2005).



Tylosema argenteum (Chiov.) Brenan is distributed in Somalia, Southern Ethiopia and Northern Kenya. It grows on riversides or rocky soils of old alluvial slopes, up to 550 m altitude. The flowering period is from September to October. The pods are 6 cm long and 4 cm wide. The seeds from this specie are ovate-circular with length and width of 13 mm and 10 mm, respectively (Coetzer & Ross, 1977; Castro *et al.*, 2005).

Tylosema angolense (P. Silveiro & S. Castro sp. nov) is a recently identified specified specie of the genus *Tylosema*. This specie was distinguished from *T. fassoglense* specie within the genus. *T. angolense* occurs in open scrub woodland, on sandy soils and sometimes on ferric soil, at 1150-1670 m altitude in Southern Angola. The flowering period falls between September and February. The pods of about 11 cm long and 6 cm wide are asymmetric, dorsally elliptic, ventrally–rhomboid, reddish during maturation and dark-brown with small longitudinal light-brown grooves when matured. According to Castro *et al.* (2005), the seeds have not been characterised because these were not seen during the period of the study.

Marama seeds (Fig. 2.2) have a very hard outer shell and decortication becomes necessary to access the inner flesh. Information on dimensional characteristics of the seed may be useful for engineering design and process control. More detailed studies on physical properties (e.g. dimensional characteristics, weight of 1000 grains, bulk density, and hardness) should also be conducted.





2.2. Legume seed microstructure

The microstructure of protein bodies from oilseed legumes including soya bean and peanut has been studied extensively (Lott & Buttrose, 1978). Structurally, the protein bodies of these oilseeds such as soya bean and peanut consist of proteinaceous matrix material surrounded by a network of lipid bodies (Fig. 2.3). Protein bodies may appear oval or circular in cross-section with diameter varying from 2-15 μ m (Martinez, 1979; Young *et al.*, 2004).

Although the protein bodies of different oilseed legume species may be similar in terms of their spherical shape, differences have been observed with respect to the presence or absence of crystalline inclusions within the protein bodies. The most common inclusion found within the protein bodies are the globoids, which constitute the storage sites of seed phosphorus deposited as insoluble phytate (Martinez, 1979; Lott, 1981). These globoid inclusions have bean reported in peanuts (Young *et al.*, 2004), castor bean (Tully & Beevers, 1976) and hazelnut (Lott & Buttrose, 1978). A globoid inclusion in peanut is indicated by an arrow in Figure 2.3 (B). Elemental composition analysis of spherical globoids from many legumes showed that they are rich sources of P, K, Ca and Mg (Lott & Buttrose, 1978; Lott, 1981). According to Martinez (1979) soya bean protein bodies do not contain globoids. Prattley and Stanley (1982) investigated the localisation of phytate in soya bean protein bodies, which seems to provide an explanation for the absence of globoids in soya bean. According to these authors, phytic acid in soya bean is mainly in the form of soluble protein-phytate salt.

The microstructure of dry bean legumes was found to be different from those of oilseed legumes. This difference may be attributed to difference in seed chemical composition in terms of starch and oil contents. Unlike in oilseeds where the protein bodies are surrounded by network of lipid bodies (Lott & Buttrose, 1978; Young *et al.*, 2004), in dry beans such as cowpea, starch granules are embedded within the protein matrix (Fig. 2.4) (Biaszczak *et al.*, 2007; Sefa-Dedeh & Stanley, 1979). Similar observations were made on microstructures of pinto bean (Gujska, Reinhard & Khan, 1994) and native bean (Gujska *et al.*, 1994). The protein body size in cowpeas were reported to range from 2-6 μ m (Saio & Monma, 1993), which is smaller than those of oilseed legumes such as soya bean (Martinez, 1979) and peanuts (Young *et al.*, 2004).



The microstructure of many underutilised indigenous legume seeds including marama bean, *Bauhinia*, mucuna bean, jack bean are not known. Seed microstructures have been found to influence physical properties such as seed hardness (Aguilera & Stanley, 1999) and the purity of extracted protein isolates in terms of residual lipid retention in the isolate (Shand *et al.*, 2007). The physical location of storage protein in the seed may also affect its protein digestibility (Aguilera, 2005). Therefore, information on the protein body structure of marama bean would be required for the development of commercial processing and utilisation of marama bean protein.



Figure 2.3 Microstructure of soya bean and peanut parenchyma cells

A: Transmission electron micrograph of a typical spongy parenchyma cell from cotyledon of a dry soybean, N-nucleus, S-spherosomes, CW-cell wall, Magnification 8000X-1micron (Martinez, 1979)
B: Transmission electron micrograph of the cross section of mid region parenchyma cells of mature peanut. Crystalline inclusions in protein bodies is indicated by an arrow (Young *et al.*, 2004)



Figure 2.4 Scanning electron microscospy of cowpea parenchyma cells

A: Cross-section of cowpea, variety Adua Ayera, cotyledon sectioned after fixing in 2% glutaraldehyde B: Cross-section of cowpea, variety Ayera cotyledon cell. S Starch granule, ML: middle lamella, PB: protein bodies (Sefa-Dedeh & Stanley, 1979)



2.3. Protein composition of legumes

Grain legumes are important sources of plant proteins. Most proteins in legumes are present as storage proteins (Murray, 1979). These proteins are synthesised during seed development and deposited in membrane bound organelles called the protein bodies (Lott, 1981).

Indigenous legumes such as mucuna bean (Adebowale et al., 2005), bambara groundnuts (Yusuf et al., 2008) and marama bean (Holse et al., 2010) have been found to be good sources of protein similar to soya bean (Mujoo et al., 2003) and peanuts (Ventachenka & Sathe, 2006) (Table 2.1). The following protein levels for mucuna beans: 38.6- 41.2% (Adebowale et al., 2005), faba bean: 25-30%; (Mussallam et al., 2004), bambara groundnuts: 20.6% (Yusuf et al., 2008); marama bean (T. esculentum): 34.1% (Amarteifio & Moholo, 1998); terapy bean: 24% (Idouraine et al., 1998), beach pea legume: 29.2% (Chavan et al., 2001), and lupin: 33.8% (Lqari et al., 2002) have been reported. When comparing the two types of legumes, oilseed legumes such as marama bean (Amarteifio & Moholo, 1998; Holse et al., 2010), lupin (Lqari et al., 2002) and Bauhinia purperea (Vijayakumari et al., 1997) contain higher protein levels than most of the dry bean legumes like cowpea (Nwokolo & Oji, 1985), faba bean (Mussallam et al., 2004), bambara groundnuts (Yusuf et al., 2008) and African yam bean (Eromosele et al., 2008). Reported protein contents for marama bean and lupin were also high compared with those of sunflower (20-28%) (Dulau & Thebaudin, 1998) and some edible nuts seeds like macadamia (8.5%) and hazelnuts (14.6%) (Venkatachalam & Sathe, 2006). The variations in chemical composition of legumes may be attributed to differences in genotypes, environmental conditions and agricultural practices, as described by Young et al. (1974) and Salunkhe et al. (1985).



² Legume types	Species	Protein	Fat	Fibre	Ash	СНО
Marama bean	Tylosema esculentum ^d	34.1	33.5	4.4	3.7	24.1
Mucuna bean	Mucuna purien ^a	41.2	9.8	1.9	2.1	43.7
Bambara groundnuts	Vigna subterrenea ^b	6.6	5.2	4.4	63.5	
Terapy beans	Phaseolus acutifolius ^d	24.74	0.9	4.9	3.8	63.8
Mung beans	Phaseolus aureus ^b	22.3	1.1	4.8	ND	68.3
Lima beans	Phaseolus lunatus ^b	22.5	1.3	4.5	3.9	66.9*
Pigeon pea	Cajanus cajan ^b	19.4	3.2	5.5	4.1	57.2
Beach pea	Larthyrus maritimus ^f	29.2	1.1	12.0	3.0	57.0
Bauhinia	Bauhinia purpurea ⁸	27.1	12.4	5.9	2.9	51.5
Cowpea	Vigna unguiculata ^h	22.5	1.60	5.3	3.8	56.9*
Soya bean	Glycine max ⁱ	35.9	24.9	5.0	6.6	26.8
Peanuts	Arachis hypogaea ⁱ	26.5	40.83	ND	2.8	25.4

Table 2.1 Chemical composition of some legumes¹

¹ Values are reported in % dry basis, ND: Not determined, *Nitrogen free extracts, CHO: carbohydrates

²References: ^aAdebowale *et al.* (2005); ^bYusuf *et al.* (2008); ^dAmarteifio & Moholo (1998); ^fChavan *et al.* (1999); ^gVijayakumari *et al.* (1997); ^hNwokolo & Oji (1985); ⁱOloghobo & Fetuga (1984); ^jOnyeike & Acheru (2002)

2.3.1. Amino acid compositions

Glutamic and aspartic acid which may include glutamine and asparagine, respectively have been found to be major amino acids in most legume proteins. These amino acids account for 25-40% of the total protein in the seeds (Table 2.2) (Ventachenka & Sathe, 2006; Adebowale *et al.*, 2007; Lisiewska *et al.*, 2007).

The lysine content of marama (6 g/100 g protein) (Maruatona *et al.*, 2010) is similar to that of pigeon and kidney bean (Apata & Ologhobo, 1994) and *Bauhinia spp*. (Vijayakumari *et al.*, 1997). Based on reference data from FAO/WHO (1989), indigenous legumes such as marama bean (Maruatona *et al.*, 2010), mucuna bean (Adebowale *et al.*, 2007) and bambara groundnuts (Vijayakumari *et al.*, 1997) are adequate sources of lysine, similar to soya bean (Bau *et al.*, 1994). These indigenous legumes including the marama bean thus offer some potential in food formulation where they could be used to complement protein from cereals, which are known to be deficient in lysine.



Differences in some individual amino acids have been reported among legumes. Apata and Ologhobo (1994) reported significant differences in individual amino acids among bambara groundnuts, pigeon pea, jack bean and lima bean. According to these authors, jack bean protein had higher methionine content than bambara grounduts, pigeon pea and lima bean. Pigeon pea was reporte to be deficient in valine and isoleucine (Ene-Obong & Carnovale, 1992).

Arginine has been reported in high amounts in legumes such as lupin (Lqari *et al.*, 2002) and faba bean (Lisiewska *et al.*, 2007) compared with soya bean (Bau *et al.*, 1994) and cowpeas (Ene-Obong & Carnovale, 1992). The arginine contents of lupin and faba bean were similar to that reported in peanuts (Ventachenka & Sathe, 2006). Green and Oram (1983) also reported similarly high arginine contents in three varieties of *Lupinus albus*. The beneficial effects of arginine in lowering cardiovascular disease, reduction oxidative load cells and possible protection against inflammation have been demonstrated (Wells *et al.*, 2005). Underutilised indigenous legumes thus possess some potential applications in nutraceuticals as described by Bhat and Karim (2009).

The tyrosine contents in marama bean species are high (Dubois *et al.*, 1995; Maruatona *et al.*, 2010) compared with most legume proteins. The tyrosine in marama protein has been reported to be almost five times that of soya bean (Ripperger-Suhler, 1983; Maruatona *et al.*, 2010). High tyrosine contents have also been reported in three cultivars of *Lupinus albus* (Green & Oram, 1985) and *Mucuna utilis* (Mohan & Janardhanan, 1995) compared with soya bean. However, the levels of tyrosine in these legumes are lower than those reported for marama bean.



² Legume types	Glu	Asp	Lys	Arg	His	Ala	Ile	Leu	Met	Phe	Pro	Val	Trp	Gly	Ser	Thr	Tyr	Cys
Marama bean ^a	13.3	9.5	4.1	4.5	1.9	4.8	3.3	5.5	0.7	3.3	8	4.3	ND	9.7	7.0	3.4	7.7	0.4
Lupine ^b	22.7	10.2	4.8	11.9	2.3	2.8	4.8	8	0.7	4.2	4.3		ND	3.5	5.4	3.7	4.9	1.7
Bauhinia purpurea ^c	14.5	9.6	5.6	4.8	3.4	5.2	5.3	6.8	1.4	5.1	ND	4.8	ND	4.6	5.6	4.0	2.7	0.7
Beach pea ^d	13.1	12.4	7.7	7.9	2.6	4.3	4.1	7.7	1.1	4.7	4.2	4.8	0.3	4.2	5	4.3	3.3	1.6
Bambara groundnuts ^e	16.6	11.4	6.8	7.2	2.9	4.7	3.9	7.6	1.3	5.3	4.2	4.8	1.2	3.8	5.2	3.7	3.4	1.4
Jack bean ^e	14.8	13.5	6.6	6.9	4.6	4.9	5.1	9.1	1.5	5.9	4.1	5.8	1.0	4.6	7	4.4	4.2	0.9
Mucuna bean ^f	14.0	14.2	5.9	7.1	3.0	4.2	8	6.4	0.3	4.1	3.5	4.2	ND	6.7	4.4	4.6	5.2	1.6
Faba bean ^g	16.4	11.9	6.4	11.8	2.7	4.4	4.4	7.6	0.9	4.2	4.1	4.8	ND	4.1	4.6	3.3	2.8	1.3
Africa yam bean ^h	15.3	11.4	7.7	5.2	3.6	4.4	4.6	7.7	1.2	5.8	4.9	5.3	1.0	4.4	5.8	3.7	4.2	1.4
Pigeon pea ^e	16.5	11.0	5.9	7.2	3.2	5.5	4.8	7.4	1.4	8.1	5.0	5.2	ND	3.9	4.4	3.8	3.9	1.1
Lima bean ^e	15.9	13.1	5.9	6.2	3	6.2	5.3	8.4	1.2	6.4	5.4	6.1	1.0	5.1	6.8	4.4	4.0	0.9
Soya bean ⁱ	16.9	11.4	6.1	7.1	2.5	4.2	4.6	7.7	1.2	4.8	4.9	4.6	ND	4	5.7	3.8	1.2	1.7
Peanuts ^j	21.1	12.1	3.8	11.0	2.5	4.6	3.5	7.0	1.3	5.4	5.8	3.9	0.7	6.4	4.8	2.2	3.4	0.3
Cowpea ^h	18.9	12.2	6.9	6.8	2.5	4.4	4.6	7.7	1.2	5.7	3.9	5.4	1.1	4.1	5.5	3.8	3.2	1.0
³ FAO/WHO			5.8		1.9		2.8	6.6	1.7	6.3		3.5				3.4		

Table 2.2Amino acid composition of some legume proteins¹

¹Amino acid values are expressed in g/100 g protein. Recalculation has been made where necessary. ND: Not determined ² References: ^aMmonatau (2005); ^bGreen & Oram (1983); ^cVijayakumari *et al.*, (1997); ^dChavan *et al.* (1999); ^eApata & Ologhodo (1994) ; ^fMohan & Janardhanan (1995) ; ^gLisiewska *et al.* (2007); ^bEne-Obong & Carnovale (1992); ⁱBau *et al.* (1994);

^jVenkatachalam & Sathe (2006) ³ FAO/WHO recommended pattern for pre-school children age: 2-5 years



The presence of high levels of tyrosine in underutilised legumes such as marama and lupin may influence the functionality of their proteins. Tyrosine may be involved in protein crosslinking to form either the biphenyl or ether types of tyrosine crosslinks (Fig. 2.5). Natural occurring dityrosine has been reported for structural and globular proteins (Stewart et al., 1997; Ushijiama et al., 1984). Rodriguez-Mateos et al. (2006) quantified dityrosine formation in flour and dough of six commercial types of wheat at various stages of the baking process. These authors found that dityrosine crosslinks were formed during mixing and baking due to the presence of endogenous peroxidase in flour. Dityrosine and isodityrosine have been found to occur in wheat dough and these seem to contribute to increased elasticity of the dough (Tilley et al., 2001). Although, the formation of dityrosine crosslinks has been reported for wheat, the contribution of this type of crosslink to the overall viscoelastic properties of wheat dough is still subject to debate. Pěna et al. (2006) reported that less than 0.1% of the tyrosine residue of wheat protein took part in crosslinking and therefore concluded that dityrosine crosslinks do not play major role in structure of wheat protein. Rodriguez-Mateos et al. (2006) found that there was no correlation between gluten yield of six types of wheat and their typical dityrosine concentrations and suggested that dityrosine was not a determinant factor in gluten formation.

Based on literature, it is evident that dityrosine crosslinks do occur in tyrosine-rich proteins. The formation of dityrosine crosslinks may play a major role in marama protein structure due to the fact that tyrosine residues are present in significantly high amount in this legume compared with other legumes.



Figure 2.5 Chemical structures of dityrosine (A) and isodityrosine (B) (Joye *et al.*, 2009)



Based on side chain properties, some differences in the proportion of hydrophobic amino acids and the relative ratios of acidic to basic amino acids have been observed (Table 2.3). Defatted marama flours from preheated and unheated beans have been found to contain high proportion of non polar amino acid compared with those of soya bean (Maruatona *et al.*, 2010). Marama bean also seems to contain high content of unpolar charged amino acids compared with legumes such as bambara groundnuts (Apata & Ologhodo, 1994), African yam bean (Ene-Obong & Carnovale, 1992) and lupine (Green & Oram, 1983) as well as soya bean (Bau *et al.*, 1994) and peanuts (Venkatachalam & Sathe, 2006). The properties of proteins are determined by the side chain characteristics of amino acids. The relative ratio of acidic to basic amino acids would determine the net charge of protein at the surface of the protein molecule, which in turn has been found to influence its solubility (Aluko & Yada, 1995; Utsumi & Kinsella, 1985).

			Classification					
Legume types	Acidic	Basic	Hydrophobic	Uncharged polar	Total			
Marama	22.8	10.5	29.9	28.2	91.4			
Lupine	32.9	19.0	24.8	19.2	95.9			
Bauhinia	24.1	13.8	28.6	17.6	84.1			
Beach pea	25.5	18.2	31.2	18.4	93.3			
Bambara groudnuts	28.0	16.9	33.0	17.5	95.4			
Jack bean	28.3	18.1	32.4	21.1	99.9			
Mucuna	28.2	16.0	30.7	22.5	97.4			
Faba bean	28.3	20.9	30.4	16.1	95.7			
African Yam Bean	26.7	16.5	34.9	19.5	97.6			
Pigeon pea	27.5	16.3	37.4	17.1	98.3			
Lima bean	29.0	15.1	32.0	21.2	97.3			
Soya	28.3	15.7	32.0	16.4	92.4			
Peanuts	33.2	17.3	32.2	17.1	99.8			
Cowpea	31.1	16.2	34.0	17.6	98.9			

Table 2.3 Amino acid distribution based on side chain characteristics in some legume proteins¹

¹ Values (expressed in g/100 g protein) were calculated from the amino acid data from Table 2.2 Classification was done according to Tang *et al.* (2008). Acidic (glutamic acid/glutamine, Aspartic acid /asparagine), Basic (lysine, arginine, histidine), Hydrophobic (Alanine, Isoleucine, leucine, methionine, phenylalanine, proline, valine); Uncharged polar (glycine, serine, threonine, tyrosine, cysteine/cystine)



2.3.2. Protein types

Legume proteins have been classified as albumins (water soluble), globulins (salt soluble), prolamins (alchohol soluble) and glutelins (alkali/acid soluble) (Osborne, 1924). Although, globulins constitute the major storage protein of most legumes (Table 2.4) (Mohan & Janaharnan, 1995; Lqari et al., 2002; Chavan et al., 2001), some storage proteins especially among the dry beans have been found to contain albumins as their major protein fraction (Adebowale et al., 2007; Idouraine et al., 1994). Water-soluble albumin has been reported as the major storage protein fraction in mucuna bean species, followed by the glutelin (Adebowale et al., 2007). The albumin was found to constitute 83% of the storage protein in terapy bean (Idouraine et al., 1994), 73% in adzuki bean (Vigna angularis var Takara) and 53% in faba bean (Rahman, 1988). The navy bean showed similar proportions of albumin and globulin (approx. 35%). Albumin and globulin were found to be the predominant protein fractions in two species of Bauhinia including B. purpera and B. vahlii, whereas glutelin was predominant in B. race (Rajaram & Janardhanan, 1991). The high proportion of water-soluble albumin mainly in dry bean implies that a less complex procedure would be required for their protein extraction.

Legume types	Species ²	Albumin	Globulin	Prolamin	Glutelin
Mucuna bean	Mucuna puriens ^a	67.0	10.1	0.12	22.1
	Mucuna cochinchinensis ^a	68.5	11.4		20.1
	Mucuna cochinchinensis ^b	13.83	58.30	7.86	19.58
	Mucuna monosperma ^c	20.7	68.6	3.3	1.5
Bambara groundnuts	Vigna subterranae ^d		75		
Faba bean	Vicia faba ^e	53.1	20.4	7.4	8.1
Terapy bean	Phaseolus acutifolius ^f	83.2	13.7	0.5	0.5
Beach pea	Lathyrus maritimus ⁸	13.8	61.9	2.87	18.9
Navy bean	Phaseolus vulgaris ^h	36.65	35.06	0.08	0.28
Moth bean	Vigna acontiffoli ⁱ	5.06	63.93	3.17	27.83
Soya bean	Gycine max ^j	10	90		
Peanuts	Arachis hypogea ^k		73		
Cowpea	Vigna unguiculata ^l	24.5	53.0	1.3	21.3

Table 2.4Protein fractions of some legume species¹

Values are expressed in % protein

²References: ^aAdebowale *et al.* (2007), ^bEzeagu & Gowda (2006); ^cMohan & Janadharanan (1995); ^d Odeigah & Osanyinpeju (1998); ^cRahman (1988); ^fIdouraine *et al.* (1994); ^gChavan *et al.* (2001); ^hGujska & Khan (1991); ⁱSathe & Venkatachalam (2007); ^jBoulter (1977); ^kYamada *et al.* (1979); ^lVasconcelos *et al.* (2010)



2.3.2.1 Globulins

Storage globulins are often composed of two major fractions, namely 7S (vicilin) and 11S (legumin). Variations in contents between the vicilin-like (7S) and legumin-like (11S) fractions of legume globulins have been reported (Meng & Ma, 2001; Adebowale et al., 2007; Horax et al., 2004). Both 7S and 11S have been found to be major storage protein fractions of lima bean (Chel-Guerrero et al., 2007), faba bean (Kimura et al., 2008) and lupin (Duranti et al., 1981), similar to soya bean (Kinsella, 1979). On the other hand, the 7S globulins have been found to be abundant in mucuna bean (Adebowale et al., 2007), terapy bean (Idouraine et al., 1994), and red bean (Phaseolus angularis) (Meng & Ma, 2001), similar to cowpea (Horax et al., 2004). Using Size Exclusion High Performance Liquid Chromatography (SE-HPLC) and analytical ultracentrifugation, Rahman et al. (2000) demonstrated that 7S globulin was the major protein component in mung bean. Chavan et al. (2001) reported 7S as major and 11S as minor in beach pea legume protein. Protein extraction using the traditional alkaline extraction/isoelectric precipitation and micellisation, did not affect the 7S content of mung bean (Rahman et al., 2000). Vicilin-like proteins have been also found to be the major storage protein fraction in bambara groundnuts and pigeon pea (Benjakul et al., 2000).

In addition to the two protein fractions associated with globulins, another 7S globulin designated as basic 7S has been reported in soya bean (Yamauchi, Sato & Yamagishi, 1984; Omi *et al.*, 1996). This protein is called basic 7S because of its basic isoelectric point in the pH range 9.05–9.26 (Yamauchi *et al.*, 1984) and has been found to account between 0.5-3% of the total seed protein (Omi *et al.*, 1996; Yamauchi, *et al.*, 1984). The basic 7S globulin protein fraction has been found to be immunologically distinguished from 11S and 7S globulin (Sato *et al.*, 1987; Omi *et al.*, 1996). The basic 7S globulin (Bg) of soya bean, which was released by pressurisation has been found to be localized in the dermal tissue of seed cotyledons and to consist of 16 and 27 kDa subunits (Omi *et al.*, 1996). Although the basic 7S globulin constitutes a minor component of seed protein, it was found to be a sulphur-rich protein and could be heat coagulated to form soluble and insoluble aggregates (Sathe *et al.*, 1989; Yamuachi *et al.*, 1994).

The variation in contents between 7S and 11S of legume globulins may be attributed to differences in genotypes. The relative amount of 7S and 11S protein fractions may List of research project topics and materials



influence the functionality of proteins. For instance, Arrese *et al.* (1991) reported that the gelation characteristic of soya protein was related to the amount of 7S and 11S. High ratios of 11S to 7S in proteins led to increased textural properties of hardness, cohesiveness, and gumminess of gels (Tay & Perera, 2004). The globulin of some legumes has further been characterised to gain understanding into its functionality in food systems.

2.3.2.2 Subunit composition

One-dimensional SDS-PAGE has been employed to determine the protein profile of legume globulins. Differences have been reported in terms of number and molecular weight of constituent polypeptide subunits of legume proteins such as bambara groundnuts (Odeigah & Osanyinpeju, 1998), faba bean (Ghandorah & El-shawaf, 1993) and terapy bean (Idouraine *et al.*, 1994). Terapy bean protein extracts showed major polypeptide bands at 29, 45 and 49 kDa (Idouraine *et al.*, 1994). The globulin fraction of moth bean (*Vigna aconfitifolia* L.) protein was composed of three major polypeptides with an estimated mass of 45-55 kDa and several additional polypeptides in the range 14-32 kDa (Sathe & Venkatakchalam, 2007). Lupin (*Lupinus albus*) globulins analysed by ion exchange chromatography, gel filtration, and cellulose acetate electrophoresis revealed eight fractions, all with acidic character (Cerletti *et al.*, 1997). The seed globulin of alupin specie has been found to contain four subunits corresponding to the vicilin and two corresponding to the legumin (Duranti *et al.*, 1981).

Differences in structures and subunit composition of the two protein fractions (7S and 11S) of legume globulin have been reported. The 11S legume proteins are oligomeric, consisting of six acidic (α) and six basic (β) subunits disulphide-bonded as $\alpha\beta$ pairs (Derbyshire, Wright & Boulter, 1976). The nomenclature of the storage soya bean globulin is shown in Figure 2.6. Many studies have confirmed the oligomeric structure of 11S protein in soya bean (Kinsella, 1979; Mujoo *et al.*, 2008; Liu *et al.*, 2007).





Figure 2.6 The nomenclature and composition of reserved soya bean globulins (Barac *et al.*, 2004)

The protein band distribution of some legumes compared with those of soya is shown in Figure 2.7 (A-C). The vicilin (7S) of most legumes contains a variable number of subunits and these often lack disulphide bonds (Rahma *et al.*, 2000; Mujoo *et al.*, 2003; Tang, 2008). The vicilin fraction of soya protein has been found to be composed of three major subunits (Mujoo *et al.*, 2003; Liu *et al.*, 2007). Adebowale *et al.* (2007) reported two subunits with apparent molecular weight of 36 kDa and 17 kDa for the vicilin-like storage protein fraction of mucuna bean. Four subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE when the vicilin structure of broad bean (*Vicia faba*) has been analysed (Bailey & Boulter, 1972). The variation in the number of vicilin-like (7S) storage protein was attributed to post-translational proteolytic processing of the pre-proprotein and/or the differential extent of glycosylation (Muntz, 1998; Sathe, 2002).



Similarity in protein band distribution under reducing and non-reducing conditions was reported among Bambara groundnut var. HT, bambara groundnuts var. T, cowpea and pigeon pea (Fig. 2.7) (Benjakul et al., 2000), suggesting an absence of disulphide bonds. This similarity may be due to fact that these legumes have vicilin as major storage protein (Benjakul et al., 2000). Rahman et al. (1988) analysed the subunit pattern of mung bean (Phaseolus aureus) by means of SE-HPLC and SDS-PAGE. These authors reported a major protein fraction of molecular weight: 54 ± 2 kDa (Rt: 84.1 min), which was similar under reducing and non-reducing conditions, suggesting again that this was a vicilin-like storage protein. Based on the results of both one and two dimensional gel electrophoresis, Rahman et al. (2000) elucidated the absence of disulphide bonds in polypeptides of 7S vicilin of mung bean protein fraction. Horax et al. (2004) reported on electrophoretic characteristics of three cowpea varieties in comparison with soya. These authors found that cowpea protein isolates were concentrated at 60 and 40 kDa, whereas soya bean protein bands were at 95, 65, 60, 40, and 35 kDa. Similarity in electrophoresis bands between cowpea and soya have been found in the range 40-62 kDa (Horax et al., 2004). This study confirms that vicilin (7S) is the major storage fraction in cowpea compared with soya protein, which has both vicilin (β-conglycinin) and legumin (glycinin) (Kinsella, 1979; Mujoo et al., 2003) as major storage protein fractions. The molecular size distribution reported for cowpea (Horax et al., 2004) was similar to that reported for navy bean and kidney bean (Kohnhorst et al., 1990). The latter had a major band ranging from 43-47 kDa and a minor band with size 26-28 kDa (Kohnhorst et al., 1990).







Figure 2.7 SDS-PAGE of some legume globulins

В

A: Seed protein extracts under reducing and non-reducing conditions (20 μg protein was applied). (L)
The low molecular weight standards; (1) bambara groundnuts var. HT; (2) bambara groundnuts var. T;
(3) cowpea; (4) pigeon pea (Benjakul *et al.*, 2000)

B: Protein isolates in absence (a) and presence (b) of dithioerythritol (DTE) as reducing agent: 1, M-PI; 2, M-PIins; 3, I-PI; 4, I-PIins. M-PI: Mung pea protein isolate produced using micellisation of the proteins from a salt-containing water extract and M-PIin: represents an insoluble fraction obtained by this procedure I-PI: Mung pea protein isolate produced using the traditional alkaline water extraction at pH 8 (Four/water 1:20 w/v) and I-PIins represents an insoluble fraction obtained by this procedure; M: Molecular weight standards (Rahman *et al.*, 2000)

C: Protein isolates from red bean (RPI), kidney bean (KPI), mung bean (MPI) and soybeans (SPI) in the presence and absence of reducing agent (2-ME). Lanes 1–4: SPI, RPI, MPI and KPI, respectively, in the presence of 2-ME; Lanes 5–8: SPI, RPI, MPI and KPI, respectively, in the absence of 2-ME; M, molecular weight markers (Tang, 2008)



Two dimensional (2D) maps of seed proteomes can be useful in both fundamental and applied research. Proteomic technologies have increasingly been applied to determine the protein profile of legumes such as soya bean (Natarajan *et al.*, 2006; Natarajan *et al.*, 2007), lupin (Magni *et al.*, 2007) and peanuts (Kottapalli *et al.*, 2008). A typical proteome map of soya bean is shown in Figure 2.8. Using combined 2D electrophoresis and Mass Spectrometry (MS), Natarajan *et al.* (2005) identified polypeptides such as β -conglycinin, glycinin, Kunitz trypsin inhibitor, alcohol dehydrogenase, and sucrose binding proteins in soya.



Figure 2.8 A typical proteome map of soya bean (*Glycine max*) (Natarajan *et al.*, 2005)

1 & 3: α-subunit of β-conglycinin; 2: α'-subunit of β-conglycinin; 5:
Glycinin A3b4 subunit homohexamer; 7: Soybean trypsin inhibitor; 10, 26
& 54: β-conglycinin β-homotrimer; 11 & 23: sucrose-binding protein
precursor; 21: Kunitz-type trypsin inhibitor protein; 36: soybean
proglycinin A1ab1b homotrimer; 27 & 58: alcohol dehydrogenase 1; 53:
Allergen Gly m Bd 28K



The patterns of proteome maps of globulin protein have been found to vary in their constituent polypeptides depending on legume type. Natarajan *et al.* (2007) reported significant variations in the five glycinin subunits (G1-G5) among sixteen soya bean genotypes analysed by proteomic techniques and genetic analysis. Major variation was observed among wild and cultivated genotypes rather than within the same group. The glycinin to β -conglycinin ratios were also found to vary significantly among 14 commercial soya bean cultivars (Zarkadas *et al.*, 2007). Similar variations in the ratio of glycinin to β -conglycinin have been also reported by Yagasaki *et al.* (1997); although low ratio values compared with those of Zarkadas *et al.* (2007) were found. Protein quality of soybeans varieties can be determined from their ratio of the major seed storage protein components of glycinin and β -conglycinin.

The proteome map of lupin (*Lupine albus*) revealed an intrinsically complex pattern of lupin storage proteins with several spots of same molecular weight but with different pIs. The digital image processing of the map detected 357 spots, seed protein families (Magni *et al.*, 2007). The profiles of total seed proteins isolated from mature seeds of four peanut cultivars were studied using two-dimensional gel electrophoresis coupled with nano-electrospray ionization liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (nESI-LC–MS/MS) (Kottapalli *et al.*, 2008). The four peanut cultivars revealed distinct differential expression of storage proteins, with the number of polypeptides varying from 457-556. Abundant polypeptides identified belong to the globulin fraction consisting of Arachin (glycinin and Arah3/4) (Kottapalli *et al.*, 2008).

Chemical characteristics of storage proteins from legume seeds in terms of subunit composition and structure have been found to significantly influence the functional properties of proteins (Kinsella, 1979; Nakai, 1983). The remarkable variability in protein expression among legume storage proteins will bring about differences in their functionality. The protein expressions of many existing indigenous legumes such as the marama bean are not known and this information would be required to gain understanding of their function in foods.



2.4. Functional properties of legume proteins

Functional properties are physicochemical properties which affect the behaviour of proteins in food systems during preparation, processing, storage and consumption (Kinsella, 1979). These properties include solubility, water and oil absorption, emulsifying and foaming properties as well as rheological properties (Kinsella, 1979). The thermal and rheological properties of legume protein are discussed in the following sections.

2.4.1. Thermal properties

The temperature of denaturation (T_d) and enthalpy (Δ H) are the two parameters commonly used to describe the thermal characteristics of legume proteins (Hermanson, 1986; Renkema *et al.*, 2001; Horax *et al.*, 2004). T_d and Δ H provide information on the type of protein structure (simple or complex). The enthalpy is the measure of heat flow into the protein. The greater the heat flow the greater the state of nativity and the more complex the protein structure (Hermanson, 1986; Sorgentini *et al.*, 1995).

A study on thermal denaturation of cowpea storage protein by Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) revealed only 1 major peak corresponding to the vicilin fraction as compared to soya protein which showed two peaks (Horax *et al.*, 2004) corresponding to the β -conglycinin (7S) and glycinin (11S) protein fractions (Hermanson, 1986; Wagner & Annor, 1990). The temperatures of denaturation of 7S cowpea protein (85-88.4°C) have been found to be similar to that of 7S soya protein. But, variable denaturation enthalpies ranging from 8.4-10.33 J/g protein for 7S cowpea protein and 0.6-1.01 J/g protein for 7S soya protein have been found (Horax *et al.*, 2004). The difference in enthalpy (heat flow) may be attributed to differences in 7S contents between soya and cowpea proteins

Differences in thermal stability between vicilin (7S) and legumin (11S) fractions of legume protein have been reported (Sorgentini *et al.*, 1995; Hermanson, 1986). The denaturation temperature (96.3°C) and enthalpy (4 J/g) of glycinin (11S) were high compared to those of β -conglycinin (7S) (T_d: 82.5 and Δ H: 0.7-1.0 J/g protein) for soya bean protein. Similarly, Sorgentini *et al.* (1995) reported high thermal transition point for glycinin (92°C) compared with β -conglycinin (72°C), suggesting that 21



glycinin is more thermally stable than β -conglycinin. Glycinin showed a denaturation temperature of 90°C at neutral pH and an ionic strength of 0.25, whereas β conglycinin already unfolded at 74°C under the same condition (Hermanson, 1986). Differences in network structure and interaction have been found to be responsible for the differences in thermal stability between 7S and 11S proteins (Barac *et al.*, 2001; Renkema *et al.*, 2001). β -conglycinin has been reported to be a trimer consisting of α ', α , and β subunits (Thanh & Shabadaki, 1979; Mujoo *et al.*, 2003), while the glycinin has been found to be a hexamer consisting of pairs of acidic and basic polypeptide subunits; each pair linked by disulphide bonds (Wagner & Annor, 1990; Mujoo *et al.*, 2003).

Variation in thermal stability among dry bean legumes including kidney bean, red bean and mung bean has been reported (Tang, 2008). For instance, the T_d of kidney bean vicilin protein (90.2°C) was high compared with those of red bean (87.1°C) and mung bean (84.6°C). Since T_d is the measure of thermal stability, these results suggest that kidney bean is more thermal stable than red bean and mung bean. Values of thermal properties reported for red bean by Tang (2008) were similar to those of Meng and Ma (2001).

The influence of heating temperature on thermal denaturation of legume proteins has been investigated (Sorgentini *et al.*, 1995, Remondetto *et al.*, 2001). Sorgentini *et al.* (1995) reported that heating protein at 100°C for 30 min led to the denaturation of both 7S and 11S proteins. At 80°C the 7S was totally denatured but the 11S still retained its conformational structure.

The effects of denaturing and reducing agents on legume protein thermal stability have been reported (Meng & Ma, 2001; Tang, 2008). According to Meng and Ma (2001), the decrease in enthalpy resulting from the addition of protein perturbants such as SDS, urea and ethylene glycol suggests a partial denaturation of the protein, while the similarity in thermal properties under reducing and non- reducing conditions suggests that vicilin is the major storage protein fraction of red bean globulin. A minor participation of red bean legumin in protein network was found. Disulphide bonds have been quantified in kidney bean, red bean and mung bean protein and the variations in thermal stability among these legumes have been related to their disulphide bond contents (Tang, 2008). However, the transition temperatures of these



legumes were not significantly affected when treated with reducing agent (DTT) as compared with that of soya (Fig 2.9).



Figure 2.9 Typical DSC profiles of RPI (A), KPI (B), MPI (C) and SPI (D), in the absence (black lines) and presence (red lines) of 20 mM DTT (Tang, 2008)

RPI: red bean protein isolate, KPI: kidney bean protein isolate, SPI: soya bean protein isolate

The pH and the ionic strenght have also been found to influence the protein structure which is reflected during thermal analysis. Shand *et al.* (2007) observed some influence of salt concentration on enthalpy of denaturation of soy protein isolates. Increasing the salt concentration from 0-2% increased the enthalpy of denaturation from 0.49 – 6.6 J/g protein. In a similar way, there was an increased in the transition temperature of both the 11S and 7S soya bean protein isolates, demonstrating the stabilizing effects of NaCl on the protein. This stabilization of protein structure in the presence of salt has also been reported by several authors (Kinsella, 1979; Aluko & Yada, 1995). The addition of salt (NaCl) tends to interact with positively charged proteins, reducing electrostatic repulsion and enhancing hydrophobic interaction (Aluko and Yada, 1995). Meng and Ma (2001) observed a decrease in enthalpy and T_d of red bean globulin protein under highly acidic or alkaline pH. This was because



high pH value increases the net negative charge on protein. The effect of this increase coupled with salting-in effect of NaCl on hydrophobic interaction would result in dissociation of protein aggregates (Utsumi & Kinsella, 1985; McWatters & Holmes, 1979). Petruccelli and Añón (1996) investigated pH-induced modifications on the thermal stability of soybean protein isolates by DSC. These authors reported that the glycinin denaturation temperature decreased by 10°C when the pH was increased from 6 to 11, while the 7S globulin denaturation temperature did not change. A 50% decrease in ΔH at pH 11 was observed for glycinin. This behaviour of the glycinin may be due to a dissociation of the hexameric form to trimeric and/or monomeric forms. The structural modification of protein at varying ionic strength has been observed by Thanh and Shibasaki (1979). β -conglycinin has been found to possess a trimeric form of 7S with an ionic strength above 0.5 and a hexameric structure at ionic strength of below 0.2. At very low ionic strengths (i < 0.01) and acidic pH, the R subunit dissociates from the trimer, leading to 2S and 5S forms (Thanh & Shibasaki, 1979). At pH 11, soya bean isolate gave only one endothermic representing both globulins suggesting a complete change in structure (Petruccelli & Añón, 1996). The pattern of protein association-dissociation under varying pH conditions proposed by Prakash and Narasingo Rao (1988) is shown in Figure 2.10.









The dependency of thermal denaturation of soy protein on water content of the protein was investigated by Kitabatake *et al.* (1990). These authors reported that heatdenaturation temperature T_d of protein in solution is often below 100°C. Denaturation temperatures found for 7S and 11S with 94% water were 76.5°C and 94°C, which agree with reported T_d values in other literature for 7S and 11S soya protein, respectively (Kinsella, 1979; Scilingo & Añón, 1996; Shand *et al.*, 2007). Based on these findings, Kitabatake *et al.* (1990) suggested that soya bean protein with a water content of 94% is an appropriate condition for thermal property evaluation of the protein. The solid concentration can also influence the degree of denaturation. According to Romondetto *et al.* (2001), higher solid concentration (11% protein) has protective effect on protein denaturation.

2.4.2. Rheological properties

The rheological properties of legume storage proteins have been found to be significantly associated with protein composition (Nagano *et al.*, 1996; Tang *et al.*, 2008). The contents of β -conglycinin and glycinin of soya protein have been found to influence the elastic properties (G') of soya protein isolates (Nagano *et al.*, 1996). Riblett *et al.* (2001) found an increase in storage modulus G' with a high percentage of hydrophobic residue while investigating the characteristics of β -conglycinin and glycinin soya protein from four genotypes.

The effect of heating on glycinin and β -conglycinin fractions of soya bean protein has been investigated (Shimada & Matsushita, 1980; Nakamru *et al.*, 1986). Heating soya protein above 70°C causes dissociation of the quaternary structure; denatures their subunits and promotes the formation of protein aggregates. Some studies have shown that the relative contribution of β -conglycinin and glycinin to soya protein gel properties was dependent on the heating rate (Shimada & Matsushita 1980; Nakamru *et al.* (1986). Heating at 80°C for 30 min in water (pH 7.0) revealed that β conglycinin play a major role since the gel formed was harder than that of glycinin (Shimada and Matsushita, 1980). On the other hand, Nakamru *et al.* (1986) observed that glycinin formed a harder gel than β -conglycincin when the protein solution was heated at 100°C (pH 7.6 ionic strength 0.5). Tang *et al.* (2009) found that heatinduced aggregation varied with the types of protein isolate when comparing the thermal properties of vicilin-rich legumes including red bean, kidney bean and mung



bean. The variation in heat-induced aggregation among these legumes may be attributed to difference in heat stability, as was described in previous study by Tang, (2008).

Factors such as pH and protein concentration as well as processing history significantly influence the viscoleastic properties of soya protein isolates (Torrezan *et al.*, 2007; Shand *et al.*, 2008). A model (hexamers sandwich model) used to explain the change in conformation behaviour (association-dissociation, dissociation-association, dissociation denaturation) of protein is shown in Figure 2.11. Minor variation in pH ionic strength, nature of ions, presence of denaturing agent, and temperature could result in disruption of stabilizing forces of proteins (Prakash & Narasingo Rao, 1988). The influence of pH on gel forming properties of soya proteins isolate and purified glycinin in relation to denaturation and aggregation were investigated by Renkema *et al.* (2001). Gels at pH 3.8 had higher G' values than G' values at pH 7.6 for both glycinin and soya protein isolate (Renkema *et al.*, 2001).



Figure 2.11 Proposed model for the association-dissociation, denaturation and reassociation of the high molecular weight protein fractions from various oilseeds Dashed lines indicate weak non-covalent interaction, solid lines indicate strong noncovalent interactions, S-S, disulphide bridge (Prakash & Narasingo Rao, 1988)

26



2.5. Conclusions

The protein compositions of legumes are variable depending on legume type, genotype and growing conditions. The proteome maps of most indigenous legumes including the marama bean have not been established. In addition, the protein body structure and protein composition in terms of protein type and constituent polypeptides as well as the functional properties with respect to thermal and rheological properties are not known for marama. This information is required to determine the potential usage of marama protein in food systems.



2.6. Hypotheses

- The protein bodies in marama bean will consist of spherical protein bodies similar to those of soya bean. Microstucturally, the protein bodies of oilseed legumes such as soya and peanuts have been found to consist of spherical bodies surround by a network of lipid bodies (Young *et al.*, 2004; Martinez, 1979; Lott & Buttrose, 1978).
- 2) The major storage protein in marama will be globulin, which will be composed of the vicilin-like (7S) and legumin-like (11S) protein fractions similar to soya bean. However, differences may be observed in terms of number and molecular weight of constituent polypeptide subunits between marama and soya globulins. Differences in the number of vicilin (7S) subunits have been reported for some legume species (Bailey & Boulter, 1972; Mujoo *et al.*, 2003; Liu *et al.*, 2007; Adebowale *et al.*, 2007). These differences were attributed to post-translational proteolytic processing of the pre-proprotein and/or the differential extent of glycosylation (Muntz, 1998; Sathe, 2002).
- 3) Marama storage protein will have high elastic properties as compared to that of soya bean. The high tyrosine residues in marama proteins may lead to increased structural stability since tyrosine is involved in cross-linking polypeptides (Takasaki *et al.*, 2005; Tilley *et al.*, 2001).



2.7. Objectives

- 1) To determine the microstructure of protein bodies in marama beans and compare this with that of soya beans
- 2) To determine the physicochemical properties of marama storage protein in comparison with soya bean protein
- To determine the thermal and rheological properties of marama storage protein in comparison with soya bean protein



3. RESEARCH

This chapter is organised into three sections based on specific objectives of this study. These sections are presented as follows:

- 3.1 Microstructure of protein bodies in marama bean species
- 3.2 Marama bean protein composition
- 3.3 Thermal and rheological properties of marama protein



3.1. MICROSTRUCTURE OF PROTEIN BODIES IN MARAMA BEAN SPECIES¹

Abstract

Marama bean is an underutilised indigenous legume from Southern Africa. The understanding of the microstructure of marama protein bodies, the organelles of protein storage, is an important step towards the characterisation and utilisation of its protein. The protein body structures of two species of marama beans (*Tylosema esculentum* and *T. fassoglense*) were determined in comparison with soya bean (*Glycine max*). *T. fassoglense* seemed to have higher protein content than soya. Marama beans showed clustered spherical protein bodies surrounded by lipid bodies, similar to soya beans. *T. esculentum* seemed to contain smaller sized ($4 \pm 2 \mu m$) protein bodies per cell as compared with *T. fassoglense* ($7 \pm 4 \mu m$). Marama protein bodies contained spherical globoid and druse crystal inclusions, which were absent in soya. P, K, Mg and Ca were the major minerals in marama, which probably originated mainly from storage protein sites. The protein body structure of marama is similar to soya in terms of spherical shape and localisation within the parenchyma cells.

Key words: marama bean, soya bean, protein bodies, microstructure

¹*This research section is published in part*: Amonsou, E., Taylor J., Minnaar, A. (2011). Microstructure of protein bodies in marama bean species. *Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft und-Technologie*, 37, 439-445.


3.1.1. Introduction

Marama bean is an underutilised indigenous legume from Southern Africa. *Tylosema* esculentum and *T. fassoglense* are the two species of marama bean that occur in South Africa and Namibia (Coetzer & Ross, 1976). Marama bean is found to be a good source of protein (Amarteifio & Moholo, 1998; Holse *et al.*, 2010) similar to oilseed legumes such as peanuts (Venkatachalam & Sathe, 2006) and soya beans (Garcia *et al.*, 1998) However, the use of marama bean remains mainly domestic. Traditionally, marama beans are roasted and consumed as a snack. Matured roasted seeds are also ground or pounded for making porridge or a cocoa-like beverage (Keegan & van Staden, 1981). Marama oil has reportedly been used for cooking (Ketshajwang *et al.*, 1998). Marama bean could become a valuable crop and a potential source of income in its production zones if its major component parts like the protein and fat are adequately utilised.

Understanding of the microstructure of protein bodies, the organelles of protein storage is an important step towards the isolation, characterisation and utilisation of food proteins. In particular, the knowledge of the seed microstructure may be important in commercial processing and utilisation of legume protein. When isolating proteins from peas and soya bean, residual lipids in extracted isolates were attributed to not only differences in lipid compositions but also on the physical location of lipids in the seeds (Shand *et al.*, 2007). The physical location of storage protein in the seed may affect its protein digestibility (Aguilera, 2005). Furthermore, the microstructure of seeds has been found to influence their physical properties such as seed hardness (Aguilera & Stanley, 1999).

The structure of protein bodies in marama beans is not known. The objective of this study was to determine the protein body structure of two species of marama beans (*T. esculentum* and *T. fassoglense*) in comparison with soya beans (*Glycine max*).



3.1.2. Materials and methods

3.1.2.1. Materials

Two species of marama beans *T. esculentum* (Burch) A. Schreib and *T. fassoglense* (Schweinf) Torre and Hillc and soya bean (*Glycine max L. Merr.*) were used. *T. esculentum* was gathered from two different locations, Rooidraaitrust, South Africa (voucher specimen deposited at H.G.W.J. SCHWEICKERDT (PRU), Accession number: 113873) and Gantsi, Botswana in 2008 (voucher specimen deposited at PRU, Accession number: 113872). *T. fassoglense* was gathered near Kruger Park, South Africa in 2007 (voucher specimen deposited at PRU, Accession number: 113870). Species were identified based on the seed morphology (Fig. 3.1.1) and leaves. Soya bean was obtained from AGRICOL, Pretoria, South Africa.



Figure 3.1.1 Marama bean T. esculentum (A) and T. fassoglense (B)

3.1.2.2. Sample preparation

Marama beans were dehulled using a cracking device (WMC Sheet Metal Works, Tzaneen, South Africa). Soya beans were dehulled with a Tangential Abrasive Dehulling Device (TADD) (Shepherd, 1979). Dehulled marama and soya beans were ground into flours using a laboratory attrition mill coupled with 0.5 mm screen sieve (Ika Werke, Staufen, Germany). Processed bean flours were stored at 4°C until analysed.



3.1.2.3. Proximate composition

Bean flours were analysed for moisture content (AOAC method no. 934.01), fat (AOAC method no. 920.39), ash (AOAC method no. 942.05), crude fibre (AOAC method no. 962.09) and crude protein (N x 5.71) by combustion analysis (AOAC method no. 968.06) (AOAC, 2000). Total carbohydrate was obtained by difference.

3.1.2.4 Mineral composition

Bean flours (0.5 g) were acid digested with 5 ml nitric/perchloric acid (2:1) mixture. Mineral content was analysed by AOAC method no. 6.1.2 (AOAC, 1984), using Inductively Coupled Plasma (ICP) Spectroscopy.

3.1.2.5. Light Microscopy (LM), Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) and Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy (CLSM)

Sample fixation for LM and TEM was by the method of Young *et al.* (2004), Pattee, Schadel, and Sanders (2004) with slight modifications. Modifications included fixing of the tissue blocks (1 mm³), cut from the inner surface of cotyledons, in 0.075 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4 containing 2.5% (w/v) glutaraldehyde for 48 h at room temperature.

For LM, sections of 1 μ m were cut after fixation using an ultramicrotome. These sections were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R 250 (Gahan, 1984). Stained specimens were mounted in immersion oil.

For TEM, ultrathin sections were cut using an ultramicrotome. The sections were placed on copper grids and contrasted in 4% aqueous uranyl acetate for 10 min, followed by 2 min in Reynolds lead acetate.

For CLSM, tissue blocks $(1mm^3)$ cut from the cotyledon inner surface were fixed in 2.5% (w/v) formaldehyde overnight. Fixed tissues were rinsed three times for 10 min in 0.075 M phosphate buffer and dehydrated at room temperature at 10 min intervals in a graded series of aqueous ethanol (50%, 70%, 90%, 100%, 100%). Dehydrated samples were infiltrated with 50% (v/v) LR White resin in ethanol for 1 h and 100% LR White resin overnight before polymerisation at 60°C for 39 h. Sections with List of research project topics and materials



thickness of 1.5 μ m were cut and viewed under a CLSM. Excitation was at 405 nm. Fluorescence protein was detected after passing through a 420 long passing filter, with a pinhole set at 55 μ m.

3.1.2.6. Proteinase K digestion of marama bean and soya bean cotyledons

Tissue blocks (1 mm^3) were cut from the inner surface of the cotyledons and digested with Proteinase K (Sigma P 2308) following the procedure of Miflin and Burgess (1982) with modifications. Sectioned tissue blocks were incubated in Proteinase K (500 µg/ml) in 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.0) containing 10 mM calcium chloride for 45 min at 37°C. Control samples were incubated in the same buffer without Proteinase K. Incubated tissue samples were then fixed in glutaraldehyde as described above and viewed with the TEM.

3.1.2.7. Statistical analyses

Chemical analyses were done on duplicate samples. Mean diameter of protein bodies and the distribution of protein bodies per cell (N=50 cells) were determined. One way analysis of variance was conducted on proximate and mineral data and the means compared using Fisher's Least Significant Difference Test at p<0.05.

3.1.3. Results and discussion

3.1.3.1. Chemical composition of marama bean

Marama *T. fassoglense* seemed to have a higher protein content compared with marama *T. esculentum* and soya (Table 3.1.1). The protein content of *T. esculentum* is within the range previously reported for this specie (Hosle *et al.*, 2010; Maruatona *et al.*, 2010). The protein content of marama bean appeared to be higher compared with peanuts (Wu *et al.*, 1997) and other oilseeds such as hazelnut and macadamia nut (Venkatachalam & Sathe, 2006). Marama bean also contained almost twice as much fat as soya (Table 3.1.1). The fat content of marama beans is in agreement with previous reports (Amarteifio & Moholo, 1998; Ketshajwang, Holmback & Yeboah, 1998). Marama and soya had similar crude fibre contents. However, the total carbohydrate and ash contents were different between these legumes. The carbohydrates contents of marama from this study are lower than the values previously reported by Amarteifio and Moholo (1998). Changes in chemical



composition may occur in seed as a result of the changes in environmental conditions, type of soil and agricultural practices such as the use of fertiliser in growing areas.

Samples						Total ²
	Moisture	Protein	Fat	Crude fibre	Ash	carbohydrates
T. esculentum (SA)	$7.0^{b} \pm 0.2$	$30.6^{a} \pm 0.2$	$32.9^{\circ} \pm 0.5$	$7.9^{a} \pm 0.1$	$3.3^{a} \pm 0.1$	$18.3^{\rm a} \pm 0.7$
		(32.9)	(35.4)	(8.5)	(3.5)	(12.7)
T. esculentum (BW)	$5.1^{a} \pm 0.7$	$30.6^{a} \pm 0.3$	$36.2^{d} \pm 0.3$	$8.1^{a} \pm 0.2$	$3.2^{a} \pm 0.7$	$16.8^{a} \pm 0.3$
		(32.2)	(38.1)	(8.5)	(3.3)	(12.8)
T. fassoglense (SA)	$7.1^{b} \pm 0.1$	$37.3^{\circ} \pm 0.2$	$29.2^{b} \pm 0.7$	$8.4^{\mathrm{a}} \pm 0.2$	$3.4^{a} \pm 0.4$	$14.9^{a} \pm 0.5$
		(40.2)	(31.4)	(9.0)	(3.6)	(8.7)
Soya bean	$7.9^{b} \pm 0.8$	$32.5^{b} \pm 0.2$	$14.9^{a} \pm 0.1$	$8.6^{a} \pm 0.2$	$4.8^{b} \pm 0.7$	$31.3^{b} \pm 1.3$
		(34.9)	(16.2)	(9.3)	(5.2)	(26.3)

Table 3.1.1Proximate composition of marama bean and soya bean $(g/100 g)^1$

SA: South Africa, BW: Botswana

¹ Mean \pm SD. Mean values with different superscript letters in columns are significantly different

(p<0.05).

Values in parentheses are mean values expressed on a dry matter basis

²Total carbohydrates by difference

Phosphorus, potassium, calcium, magnesium and sulphur were the major minerals in both species of marama (Table 3.1.2). Soya bean seemed to contain higher concentrations of K and S than marama beans. However, Ca and Mg were higher in marama compared to soya. The concentration of the various mineral in marama is in agreement with previous reports (Amarteifio & Moholo, 1998; Mmonatau, 2005). The mineral composition of marama bean species were also similar to mineral profiles reported for oilseed legumes such as peanut (Wu *et al.*, 1997) and soya bean (Garcia *et al.*, 1998).

Legume storage proteins are found in specialised organelles, the protein bodies (Lott, 1981). The protein bodies also act as compartments for mineral reserves in seed. These mineral reserves occur as phytate, which is stored in globoid inclusions within the protein bodies (Lott & Buttrose, 1978). The structure of protein bodies in marama was determined in comparison with soya using LM and TEM.



	T. esculentum	T. esculentum T. fassogler		Soya bean
Elements	(SA)	(<i>BW</i>)	(SA)	
Р	$1065^{b} \pm 108$	796 ^a ± 82	$1123^{\circ} \pm 100$	$1199^{d} \pm 130$
Ca	$157^{b} \pm 13$	$200^{\circ} \pm 6$	$156^{b} \pm 19$	$133^{a} \pm 2$
К	$634^{b} \pm 14$	$500^{a} \pm 51$	615 ^b ± 16	$1159^{\circ} \pm 73$
Mg	$358^{b} \pm 26$	319 ^b ± 12	$402^{b} \pm 29$	$272^{a} \pm 10$
S	$297^{a} \pm 37$	$270^{a} \pm 60$	$340^{a} \pm 45$	$409^{b} \pm 50$
Na	$6.0^{\circ} \pm 0.5$	$3.4^{a} \pm 1.1$	$6.9^{\circ} \pm 0.2$	$4.8^{b} \pm 2.1$
Cu	$1.8^{a} \pm 0.2$	$0.4^{a} \pm 0.2$	$0.9^{a} \pm 0.1$	$0.6^{a} \pm 0.2$
Fe	$1.7^{a} \pm 1.6$	$1.3^{a} \pm 1.0$	1.4 ± 1.1^{a}	$4.2^{a} \pm 2.2$
Mn	$2.9^{a} \pm 1.0$	$2.1^{a} \pm 2.0$	$1.3^{a} \pm 0.9$	$1.7^{a} \pm 1.1$
Zn	$3.7^{a} \pm 0.7$	$3.2^{a} \pm 0.5$	$4.1^{a} \pm 1.0$	$4.4^{a} \pm 0.8$

Table 3.1.2 Mineral composition of marama bean and soya bean $(mg/100 \text{ g flour})^1$

SA: South Africa, BW: Botswana

¹ Mean \pm SD is reported on a dry matter basis

Mean values with different superscript letters in rows are significantly different (p<0.05)

3.1.3.2. Microscopy of protein bodies in marama bean

Pre-fixed sections of marama and soya beans were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue and viewed by LM. The protein bodies appeared as distinct bodies, circular in cross-section and stained blue within the cells while the remaining space of the cytoplasm was not stained (Fig. 3.1.2). Coomassie Brilliant Blue dye is frequently used to stain protein as it binds to it via physical adsorption to arginine, aromatic amino acids and histidine (Hafiz, 2005). From LM, it is evident that the parenchyma cells of marama bean contain circular organelles, protein bodies similar to soya bean.





Figure 3.1.2 Light microscopy of marama and soya bean parenchyma cells stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R 250
A: Marama bean (*T. esculentum*) from Botswana; B: Marama bean (*T. fassoglense*) from South Africa, and C: Soya bean. Bar: 100 μm. Protein bodies are stained blue in parenchyma cells

With TEM, marama bean parenchyma cells showed circular, electron-dense protein bodies surrounded by lipid bodies (Fig. 3.1.3 A, B). The protein bodies were similar to those in the soya bean parenchyma cells (Fig. 3.1.3 C). Structurally, the protein bodies in legumes, including peanuts, hazelnuts and soya beans consist of homogenous proteinaceous matrix material surrounded by a network of lipid bodies (Lott & Buttrose, 1978; Young *et al.*, 2004). The organisational structure of marama protein bodies is therefore similar to microstructure of protein bodies in most legumes including soya.





Figure 3.1.3 Transmission electron microscopy of protein bodies in marama and soya bean parenchyma cells

A: Marama bean (*T. esculentum*) from Botswana, B: Marama bean (*T. fassoglense*) from South Africa, C: Soya bean, D: Marama bean (*T. esculentum*) from Botswana with druse crystal (DC) type of inclusion in protein body, E: Protein body of marama bean (*T. esculentum*) from South Africa with spherical Globoid Crystals (GC) P: Protein bodies, L: Lipid bodies

The dimensions of marama protein bodies, which varied between 2-12 μ m in diameter are similar to sizes reported for oilseed legumes, including soya bean (Martinez, 1979) and peanuts (Young *et al.*, 2004). Differences in protein body size and distribution within the parenchyma cells were observed between the two species of marama bean. The parenchyma cells of *T. esculentum* from both South Africa and Botswana seemed to contain more smaller sized protein bodies (16 ± 9 per cell; 4 ± 2 μ m) per parenchyma cell compared to *T. fassoglense* (7 ± 4 per cell; protein body size: 7 ± 4 μ m). Protein bodies of *T. esculentum* and soya bean seemed to be similar in terms of protein body size and distribution per cell. The variations in protein body size and number between *T. esculentum* and *T. fassoglense* may be related to species. 39



The higher protein content of T. *fassoglense* (Table 3.1.1) may be related to the relatively larger size of its protein bodies.

TEM of marama protein bodies also showed the presence of globoid inclusions within the protein bodies (Fig. 3.1.3 D, E). It appeared that spherical globoids and druse crystals (Lott & Buttrose, 1978) were the two types of inclusion in protein bodies of marama bean. Globoids constitute storage sites for seed phosphorus deposited as insoluble phytate in protein bodies (Martinez, 1979). Spherical globoids are the most common inclusion reported in protein bodies of legumes like peanuts (Young *et al.*, 2004), walnuts and hazelnuts (Lott & Buttrose, 1978). Marama bean is thus similar to most legumes in terms of spherical globoid inclusions in its protein bodies.

Elemental composition analysis of spherical globoids from many legumes showed that they are rich sources of P, K, Ca and Mg (Lott & Buttrose, 1978; Lott, 1981). These minerals, which were found in high concentration in marama beans (Table 3.1.2), probably originated mainly from the globoid sites. Most soya protein bodies did not contain globoid inclusions. According to Prattley and Stanley (1982), phytic acid in soya is likely in the form of soluble protein-phytate salt with 10-15% of phytate specifically deposited in globoids in an insoluble form. The lack of globoids in protein bodies of soya may be attributed to the soluble form of its phytic acid. Druse crystals (one per protein body) were observed only in protein bodies from *T. esculentum* (Fig. 3.1.3 D). Druse crystals consist of cluster of small crystals in arrangement called a druse or rosette (Lott, 1981). This type of inclusion has been reported in some protein bodies of hazelnuts (Lott & Buttrose, 1978). The norm is that where druse crystals are found, only one occurs per protein body (Lott, 1981).

Compared to soya, marama appeared to have a relatively higher calcium content (Table 3.1.2), which is probably due to druse crystals in its protein bodies (Fig. 3.1.3). Druse crystals have been found to be rich in calcium (Lott & Buttrose, 1978). Thus, the mineral composition of marama bean seems to be related to the structure of its protein bodies, the organelle of protein storage.

Marama bean parenchyma cells showed clusters of spherical protein bodies with CLSM (Fig. 3.1. 4). Small spherical bodies were also observed within the protein bodies that did not fluoresce. These bodies seemed to represent the globoid inclusions



that were observed with TEM (Fig. 3). CLSM of marama bean thus confirms that its protein bodies contain globoid inclusions.



Figure 3.1.4 Confocal laser scanning microscopy of protein bodies in marama bean P: Protein bodies, G: Globoids

To elucidate marama bean protein body structure, tissue sections were incubated with Proteinase K prior to fixation with glutaraldehyde. The protein bodies in marama and soya that were incubated in Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8) without Proteinase K maintained their structure and did not show any sign of digestion (Fig. 3.1.5 A, B, C), whereas protein bodies treated with Proteinase K (Fig. 3.1.5 D, E, F) showed disruption of the cell structure with digested protein bodies within the parenchyma cells. The TEM of the control samples (Fig. 3.1.5 A, B, C) seemed to be slightly different from the initial TEM (Fig. 3.1.3). This is possibly due to some components being leached out from the parenchyma cells during the incubation of sample in Proteinase K buffer. Proteinase K is a stable serine protease that digests native protein effectively (Ebeling *et al.*, 1974). This enzyme has been used to digest protein bodies in maize, wheat and peas (Miflin & Burgess, 1982). Treatment of marama with Proteinase K confirms that digested organelles are protein bodies. The outer layer of the protein bodies that resisted the digestion with Proteinase K is likely to be the protein bodies that





Figure 3.1.5 Transmission electron microscopy of marama and soya beans protein bodies treated with Proteinase K (P: protein bodies, M: Protein body membranes, P_d: Pockets of digestion)
A & D: Marama bean (*T. esculentum*), B & E: Marama bean (*T. fassoglense*) C & F: Soya bean, A, B & C: untreated

Various organelles in the parenchyma cells including the protein bodies are membrane bound (Pusztai *et al.*, 1979). Protein body membranes mainly consist of phospholipids and glycosylated proteins (lectins) (Pusztai *et al.*, 1979; Hafiz, 2005). These membrane proteins are insoluble and disruption of the membrane and extraction with organic solvents is required to solubilise them (Hafiz, 2005). The insoluble nature of protein body membranes reduces the interaction with the enzyme and the membranes will remain indigested within the cell. However, differences were observed in the manner in which protein bodies were digested within the parenchyma cells between marama and soya. Marama protein bodies were clearly digested from the inside to the outer part as compared to those of soya bean, which showed pockets of digestion throughout the cytoplasmic network (Fig. 3.1.5 F). This differences in solubility behaviour of their proteins in Proteinase K buffer.

Protein and fat constituted major components of marama bean. The physical location of protein bodies relative to fat has been found to be similar to that of soya bean.



These finding suggest that the extraction of marama protein may be done in the same way as soya. The presence of crystalline inclusion in marama bean, suggests that phytic acid in marama may be predominantly in an insoluble protein-phytate complex form. This may influence the protein nutrition by reducing its digestibility when compared with soya in which the phytic acid is likely in the form of soluble protein-phytate (Prattley & Stanley, 1982). The presence of these inclusions in marama protein may explain its lower protein digestibility compared to soya from previous studies (Maruatona *et al.*, 2010). It may be necessary to determine the elemental composition of these inclusions in marama protein for further characterisation.

3.1.4. Conclusions

Marama beans are rich in protein and fat. Potassium, phosphorus, calcium magnesium and sulphur are the major minerals in marama beans. The protein body structure of marama is similar to soya in terms of spherical shape and localisation within the parenchyma cells. However, marama bean protein bodies contain spherical globoid and druse crystal inclusions. Due to similarity in seed microstructure, marama protein can be extracted in the same way as soya protein.



3.2. COMPOSITION OF MARAMA BEAN PROTEIN

Abstract

The protein composition of marama beans, an indigenous African oilseed legume, was determined in comparison with soya beans. Marama bean protein contained a substantial amount of tyrosine compared with soya bean protein. It was slightly richer in proline than soya. By SDS-PAGE, marama protein contained fewer protein bands compared with soya. The patterns of these bands in marama under non-reducing and reducing conditions were similar, suggesting an absence of disulphide bonds. The vicilin (7S) and acidic 11S subunits seemed to be absent in marama protein. This is most unusual in legume proteins. Only a major basic legumin (11S) (20 kDa), medium (63 kDa) and high (148 kDa) molecular weight protein bands were separated for marama protein. Most polypeptides in the marama proteome map are basic compared with soya. Only one polypeptide match was tentatively identified compared with soya. Marama protein composition is very different from that of soya.

Key words: marama bean, soya bean, 11S and 7S proteins, tyrosine





3.2.1 Introduction

Marama bean is a protein-rich indigenous oilseed legume, similar to soya bean. In the previous research (Section 3.1), marama protein bodies were found to be similar to those of soya in terms of shape and localisation within the parenchyma cells. Marama and soya also had similar protein contents (approx. 35%). However, very limited information is available on the protein composition of marama bean (Ripperger-Suhler, 1983; Maruatona *et al.*, 2010). Marama flour contains much higher tyrosine content (6.2 g/100 g flour) than soya bean flour (1.8 g/100 g flour) (Maruatona *et al.*, 2010).

This study compares the chemical characteristics of marama protein in terms of constituent polypeptides and their structure with those in soya. This information is required to facilitate the effective use of marama protein as a functional ingredient in food systems.

3.2.2 Materials and methods

3.2.2.1. Materials

Marama bean specie *Tylosema esculentum* (Burch) A. Schreib was used. This was gathered from Rooidraaitrust, Gauteng Province, South Africa in 2008 (voucher specimen deposited at H.G.W.J. SCHWEICKERDT (PRU), Accession number: 113873). Soya bean (*Glycine max L.* Merr.) was obtained from AGRICOL, Pretoria, South Africa.

3.2.2.2. Chemicals

The following chemicals were used: Immobilized pH gradient (IPG) strips pH 3-11 NL and pH 6-11 and carrier ampholytes corresponding to each pH range; acrylamide, bisacrylamide; sodium sulphate dodecyl (SDS); N,N,N,N-tetramethyl-Ethylenediamine (TEMED); ammonium persulfate (APS); thiourea; urea; dithiothreitol (DTT); iodoacetaminde 3-[(3-cholamidopropyl) and dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate (CHAPS) from GE Healthcare (Uppsala, Sweden); methanol, *n*-hexane, 2-mercaptoethanol (2-ME), trichloroacetic acid (TCA), acetone and glycerol from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO).



3.2.2.3. Protein preparations

Marama beans were dehulled using a cracker (WMC Sheet Metal Works, Tzaneen, South Africa). Soya beans were dehulled with a Tangential Abrasive Dehulling Device (TADD) (Shepherd, 1979). Dehulled marama and soya beans were coarse milled in a food blender. The bowl (sample holder) and blade of the blender were pre-chilled at -20°C for 10 min to prevent heating during milling.

Defatted flours

Coarse milled flours were then defatted four times with *n*-hexane, flour: hexane ratio 1:5, for 90 min at room temperature. Defatted flours were placed in a fume hood overnight to remove the remaining hexane. The flours were milled in a laboratory attrition mill (Ika Werke, Staufen, Germany) and sieved through 0.5 mm opening screen. The protein contents of the defatted marama and soya flours were 55.7 and 50.0% (N x 5.71), respectively.

Purified protein extracts

Proteins were extracted from defatted marama and soya flours with 30 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.0) containing 0.5 M NaCl, at a flour to solvent ratio of 1:20 (Aluko & Yada, 1995). Protein extraction was done at 40° C for 1 h in a shaking water bath. Crude protein contents (N x 5.71) of bean flours and protein extracts were determined by combustion analysis (AOAC method no. 968.06) (AOAC, 2000).

Total protein preparation

Total protein extraction was performed by the TCA/acetone precipitation method of Natarajan *et al.* (2005), except that DTT was included. The protein precipitate was suspended in 7 M urea, 2 M thiourea, 2% (w/v) CHAPS, 0.5% (v/v) IPG buffer without DTT. Protein solutions were kept at -20°C until analysed. Protein concentrations were determined by the Bradford method (Bradford, 1976).

3.2.2.4. Amino acid analysis

The amino acid contents of bean flour and protein extracts were determined using the PICO.TAG-Method (Bidlingmeyer *et al.*, 1984). This method is based on the principle of reverse phase chromatography with pre-column derivatization, following acid digestion.



3.2.2.5. SDS-PAGE

SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) was performed as described by Taylor *et al.*, 2007. Ten microlitre of aliquots containing 10, 15 and 20 μ g protein was loaded onto a gradient gel of 4–12% polyacrylamide. Gels were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R-250.

3.2.2.6. Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis

The Isoelectric Focusing (IEF) was performed using 13 cm IPG strips (pH 3–11 Non Linear, NL) and pH 6-11). The strips were focused on a gradient at 150 V for 2 h, 500 V for 1 h, 1000 V for 1 h, and 8000 V for 3 h using the Ettan IPGphor II system (Amersham Biosciences, Uppsala, Sweden). After IEF, the strips were first equilibrated in equilibration buffer with DTT and then in buffer with iodoacetamide each for 15 min.

SDS-PAGE was carried out in a Hoefer SE 600 Ruby electrophoresis unit (Amersham Biosciences) at 30 mA/gels, voltage set at maximum. The 2-DE gels were stained with Coomassie Blue.

Gel images were acquired using a Versa Doc Documentation system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, Canada) and analysed with PDQuest 2 D Image Software. Master gels were generated for each sample. The 2-D electrophoresis soya protein spots were identified by reference to Natarajan *et al.* (2005) and Zarkadas *et al.* (2007) as well as maps from a database (Hajduch *et al.*, 2005). It was attempted to identify the marama protein spots based on these.

3.2.2.7. Statistical analysis

The experiment was repeated twice. Chemical analyses were thus done on two separate protein extracts. One way analysis of variance was performed for protein content and amino acid composition and the means compared using Fisher's Least Significant Different Test at $p \le 0.05$.



3.2.3 Results and discussion

3.2.3.1. Protein contents and yields of marama protein extract

The protein content of the marama protein extract was high (86%) and similar to that of soya (Table 3.2.1). The protein yield in the marama extract (63%) was similar to that of soya (65%). The method used for preparing the extracts was a standard procedure for soya (Aluko & Yada, 1995). Therefore for the purpose of this study, the protein yields of the respective extracts were considered to be sufficiently representative.

Table 3.2.1	Protein content (dry basis) and protein yield of marama and soya protein
extracts ^a	

Samples	Protein content (N x 5.71)	Protein yield
	(g/100 g)	(%)
Marama extract	$86.1^{a} \pm 1.5$	$62.8^{a} \pm 1.4$
Soya extract	$85.6^{a} \pm 1.3$	$65.3^{b} \pm 1.6$

^aMean \pm SD (n = 4) is reported;

Mean values with different superscript letters in columns are significantly different (p<0.05)

3.2.3.2. Amino acid profile

Glutamic and aspartic acid, which may include glutamine and asparagine, respectively, were the major amino acids in the purified marama protein extract (Table 3.2.2) as well as in the flour (Maruatona *et al.*, 2010). These are also the major amino acids in soya (Table 3.2.2). The lysine content of marama protein extract (5.7 g/100 g protein) was also similar to that of soya. Based on the FAO/WHO (1989) recommended pattern, marama flour and protein extract are adequate sources of lysine for pre-school children.

The tyrosine contents of marama flour and purified protein extract were very high (11 and 9 g/100 g protein, respectively), almost 3 times those of soya, thus confirming other reports on marama protein composition (Maruatona *et al.*, 2010; Ripperger-Suhler, 1983). In fact, the tyrosine content of marama protein was substantially higher than that in other legumes, including peanuts (Venkatachalam & Sathe, 2006) and lupin (Lqari, 2002). Since tyrosine is involved in polypeptide crosslinking (Takasaki 48



et al., 2005), the high tyrosine content in marama may contribute to the structural stability of its protein as suggested for gluten (Tilley *et al.*, 2001). The proline content of marama was also slightly higher than that of soya, which may affect its protein structure (Levit, 1981). Proline can impart a rigid structure to protein by participating in protein folding and unfolding (Levit, 1981).

	Flours		Protein extracts		FAO/WHO ² recommended pattern	
	м	G 1	M	0 1	Pre-school	A 1 1/
Aming gold (AA)	Marama	Soya bean	Marama	Soya bean	(2.5 years)	Adult
	1	r ab	C	< - C	(2-3 years)	
Lysine	5.7"	6.3 ^b	6.6°	6.9	5.8	1.6
Isoleucine	4.3 ^a	4.7 ^b	5.0 ^c	4.9 ^c	2.8	1.3
Leucine	7.9^{a}	9.8 ^c	7.8 ^a	9.4 ^b	6.6	1.9
Methionine	1.0^{a}	1.5 ^b	1.2^{a}	1.8 ^c	2.5	1.7
Cysteine	0.1^{a}	0.2 ^b	0.2^{b}	0.5°		
Phenylalanine	3.7 ^a	4.0 ^b	4.1 ^b	4.9 ^c	6.3	1.9
Tyrosine	11.4 ^c	3.9 ^a	9.1 ^b	4.0^{a}		
Valine	4.8 ^a	5.0 ^b	5.2 ^b	4.9 ^a	3.5	1.3
Threonine	3.2 ^a	4.0 ^b	3.2 ^a	3.9 ^b	3.4	0.9
Histidine	2.7 ^a	3.1 ^b	3.0 ^b	2.7 ^a	1.9	1.6
Subtotal Essential	44.8	42.5	45.4	43.9		
AA						
Aspartic acid/	9.4 ^a	10.2 ^b	9.5 ^a	9.9 ^b		
Asparagine						
Glutamic acid/	15.2 ^b	18.9 ^c	13.2 ^a	19.0 ^c		
Glutamine						
Serine	5.5 ^a	5.6 ^a	5.9	5.2		
Glycine	5.9 ^b	4.3 ^a	6.7 ^c	4.4 ^a		
Arginine	8.0°	7.8 ^b	7.1 ^a	7.6 ^b		
Alanine	3.5 ^a	4.5 ^b	3.6 ^a	4.4 ^b		
Proline	7.2 ^b	5.5 ^a	8.3 ^c	5.2 ^a		
Subtotal Non-	54.7	56.8	54.3	55.7		
essential AA						
Recovery	99.5	99.3	99.7	99.6		

Table 3.2.2 Amino acid composition (g/100 g protein) of marama and soya flours and their respective protein extracts¹

¹Mean (n = 2) values with different superscript letters in rows are significantly different (p<0.05)

²FAO/WHO (1989) recommended pattern (Pre-school children age 2-5 years; Adults)



3.2.3.3. Protein subunit composition

SDS-PAGE revealed differences in protein composition between marama and soya (Figs. 3.2.1 & 3.2.2). The protein profiles from defatted marama and soya flours (Fig. 3.2.1) were similar to those of their respective protein extracts (Fig. 3.2.2). This indicates that these protein extracts were representative of the storage proteins of each of the respective seeds. By SDS-PAGE, marama protein contained fewer major protein bands (three) compared with soya (approx. eight) (Mujoo *et al.*, 2003).

The patterns of these bands in marama under non-reducing and reducing conditions were similar, suggesting an absence of disulphide bonds. This was unlike the situation in soya where 11S storage proteins were separated under reducing conditions (lane 2), due to the fact that the 11S acidic and basic units are linked by disulphide bonds (Mujoo *et al.*, 2003; Kinsella, 1979). Further, in comparison with soya bean, the acidic 11S legumin subunits were absent in marama. Only a major broad band (around 20 kDa), was present in marama, corresponding to a basic 11S legumin was present.

Two major higher molecular weight protein bands were also observed in marama. There was a medium intensity protein band of approx. 63 kDa. Under non-reducing conditions, this appeared to match a major band in soya. However, while this band remained in marama under reducing conditions, it disappeared in soya, probably forming the 11S sub-units when separated under reducing conditions. The other protein band was a very high molecular weight band (148 kDa), which did not match any bands in soya. This protein band was also not reduced by mercaptoethanol, suggesting that its constituent polypeptides are not linked together by disulphide bonds. Since marama protein contains such a high level of tyrosine compared with soya (Maruatona *et al.*, 2010) and tyrosine can participate in polypeptide crosslinking (Tilley *et al.*, 2001; Takasaki *et al.*, 2005), it is suggested that dityrosine type of crosslinks may be responsible for the stability of this high molecular weight protein in marama.

Marama protein was further analysed using proteomic type 2-D electrophoresis to attempt to identify its constituent polypeptides by comparison with soya.





Figure 3.2.1 SDS-PAGE profile of defatted marama and soya bean flours under non- reducing (NR) and reducing (R) conditions, Lane 1: Marama, Lane 2: Soya, Lane M: Molecular weight standards





Figure 3.2.2 SDS-PAGE profile of extracted marama and soya bean proteins under non-reducing (NR) and reducing (R) conditions, Lane 1: Marama, Lane 2: Soya, Lane M: Molecular weight standards

3.2.3.4. Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis

Marama appeared to contain a similar number of polypeptides to soya, as indicated by protein spots (Fig. 3.2.3, Table 3.2.3). However, the total protein of marama and its purified protein extract contained more basic polypeptides than those of soya (Fig. 3.2.4 and Table 3.2.3).

As indicated by the proteome map, the vicilin (7S) subunits were apparently absent in marama, unlike soya (Fig. 3.2.3). The absence of 7S subunits in legumes is most unusual, if not unique. Variations in the major storage protein in terms of vicilin (7S) and legumin (11S) contents (Kinsella, 1979; Horax *et al.*, 2004) have been reported in the literature for some legume species (Kinsella, 1979; Horax *et al.*, 2004; Chel-52



Guerrero et al., 2007). For instance both 7S and 11S have been found to be major storage protein fractions of Lupinus albus (Duranti et al., 1981) and soya bean (Kinsella, 1979), whereas the 7S has been found to be the major protein fraction of dry bean legumes such as mucuna bean (Adebowale *et al.*, 2007) and cowpeas (Horax et al., 2004).

Table 3.2.3	Polypeptide	distribution	and	matches	between	marama	and	soya
	proteins ¹							

	pH range				
	рН 3-1	1	pH 6-11		
Samples	Marama	Soya	Marama	Soya	
Protein spots	276 ± 13	286 ± 21	153 ± 6	96 ± 5	
Tentative spot	52	± 5	26 :	±7	
matches					

¹Mean \pm SD number of protein spots in gels from two separate protein extracts

The protein band of 63 kDa from SDS-PAGE (Figs. 3.2.1 & 3.2.2) most likely corresponds to polypeptides with pI in the range of 6.4-7.5 and molecular weight of about 64 kDa on the marama proteome map (Fig. 3.2.3).

To provide a better separation of basic proteins of marama, proteomic analysis was performed on 13 cm strips, pH 6-11 (Fig. 3.2.3 A, B). The proteome map of marama that was obtained with IPG strip pH 6-11 (Fig. 3.2.4 A-B) further confirmed differences in proteome patterns between marama and soya with respect to the high number of basic polypeptides in marama. Compared with other legumes, the protein profile of marama seemed to be different from those of peanuts (Kottapalli et al. 2008) and also protein-rich oilseeds like canola (Uruakpa & Arntfield, 2006) and sunflower (Sammour et al., 1995). Based on amino acid composition data of purified protein from this study and those published by Maruatona et al. (2010), marama protein has a lower acidic amino acid content than soya. The proteome pattern of marama thus seems to be related to its amino composition.



Only one polypeptide in marama was tentatively identified by comparison with soya. This was spot 5 (Figs. 3.2.3 & 3.2.4), which appear to correspond with Glycinin G2: A2B1, a subunit of the 11S basic soya proteins. This single match with the 11S soya proteins and the apparent absence of 7S proteins indicates the storage proteins of marama are very different from those of soya.

Storage protein compositions have been found to significantly influence the functionality of proteins (German *et al.*, 1982; Tolstoguzov 1993; Yuan *et al.*, 2009). The absence of vicilin (7S) and the presence of more 11S basic protein in marama may increase the stability of protein to heat and extreme pH's, as suggested for 11S basic soya glycinin (Yuan *et al.*, 2009). The stability of basic 11S of soya protein was associated with its high hydrophobicity compared with the acidic subunits and the total glycinin (11S) (German *et al.*, 1982; Yuan *et al.*, 2009). Marama protein has higher aromatic amino acid content than soya protein. These together with the aliphatic amino acids may increase the hydrophobicity and stability of marama protein in comparison with soya. Further, the high tyrosine in marama may also contribute to the stability of its protein structure as described previously.







Figure 3.2.3 Two-dimensional maps of marama (A & C) and soya (B & D) proteins using Immobilized pH gradient (IPG) strips (3-11 Non Linear, NL)

A: marama protein extract, C: total marama protein, B: soya protein extract, D: total soya protein 1: α '-subunit of β conglycinin, 2 & 3: α subunit of β conglycinin, 5: glycinin G2 A2B1, 10: soybean trypsin inhibitor, 12: Glycinin A3b4 subunit homohexamers, 13: Soybean proglycinin A1ab1b homotrimer, 14: β -Conglycinin β -homotrimer (Natarajan *et al.* 2005; Hajduch *et al.*, 2005; Zarkadas *et al.*, 2007;), the same numbers on maps indicate spot matches, spots 9, 15, 16, 17 not identified









3.2.4 Conclusions

The protein composition of marama bean is very different from that of soya bean. The vicilin (7S) and the acidic 11S subunits seem to be absent in marama protein. The only major proteins in marama are basic legumin (11S) and two additional proteins of relatively higher molecular weight. Also, marama protein seems to lack disulphide bonds. These findings suggest that marama protein may have increased heat stability compared with soya, due to greater hydrophobic interactions, which are associated with the basic 11S. Since tyrosine is involved in polypeptide crosslinking, the high level of tyrosine in marama may also contribute to the structural stability of its protein.



3.3. THERMAL AND RHEOLOGICAL PROPERTIES OF MARAMA BEAN PROTEIN

Abstract

Marama bean is an indigenous southern Africa oilseed legume. In this study, thermal and rheological properties of marama protein were determined in comparison with soya. Marama protein was characterised by one major endothermal transition (96°C) as compared with soya protein which had two. At approximately 38% water content, the extensibility of marama protein was high (60 mm), about twice that of soya protein and gluten. Marama protein was highly adhesive compared with gluten. Dynamic oscillatory data indicated that marama protein has a less stable protein structure than gluten. With added peroxidase, the storage modulus (G') of marama protein dough increased with time, suggesting the formation of strong protein networks. SDS-PAGE and HPLC/MS data from incubated doughs suggest that dityrosine crosslinks may be important in increasing the structural stability of marama protein. The stability of marama protein to heat is high compared with that of soya. Marama protein is characterised by viscous behaviour and extensibility.

Key words: marama protein, extensibility, soya protein, gluten, endothermal transition



3.3.1. Introduction

Marama bean is an indigenous Southern African oilseed legume (Coetzer & Ross, 1976). Its protein content (approx. 35%) is similar to soya (Mujoo *et al.*, 2003) and peanuts (Venkatachalam & Sathe, 2006). In previous research (Section 3.2), marama protein composition has been found to be very different from that of soya. The tyrosine content of marama protein is high (11 g/100 g protein); almost 3 times that of soya. Marama protein is also slightly richer in proline compared to soya protein. The vicilin (7S) and acidic legumin (11S) subunits seem to be absent in marama. Only basic legumin (11S) is present. Protein composition and structure of legume proteins have been found to influence their functionality (German *et al.*, 1982; Tolstoguzov, 1993; Yuan *et al.*, 2009). In this study, thermal and rheological properties of marama protein were determined in comparison with soya protein.

3.3.2. Materials and methods

Marama protein was extracted as described in research Section 3.2. Soya protein extracted in the same way as marama protein was used as reference. Vital gluten (commercial) was also included in the study for comparison.

3.3.2.1. Chemical composition of protein preparations

Dry matter, ash and protein contents of protein preparations were determined as described in research Section 3.1.

3.3.2.2. Thermal properties

These were determined by Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) (Horax *et al.*, 2004). Protein dispersions (10% w/v) were prepared with 0.05 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.0). Well mixed dispersions (15 mg) were weighed into 40 μ l aluminium pans and hermetically sealed. These were allowed to equilibrate for 2 h and scanning was performed from 20-120°C at 10°C/min. A sealed empty pan was used as reference. Calorimetric measurements were done in triplicate using a Mettler DSC 1 (Toledo, Columbus, OH).



3.3.2.3. Rheological properties

Description of protein dough preparation for rheological measurements

Protein doughs at varying water contents (37.8, 44.8 and 52.3%) were prepared by mixing freeze dried protein extracts with water using a spatula and kneaded by hand until a homogenous dough was obtained (Schober *et al.*, 2008).

Extensibility of protein dough

The extensibility of protein dough was measured with a TA-XT2 Texture Analyser (Stable Micro Systems Ltd, Godalming, England). Dough (3 g) was placed on a lubricated lower plate of a mould and compressed with a lubricated top plate. Olive oil was used as the lubricant. The dough was left to rest for 15 min and then cut into a strip (60 mm x 0.5 mm) using a lubricated razor blade to prevent sticking. A hook to lift the strip of dough was attached to the Texture Analyser equipped with 5 kg load cell (Selinheimo *et al.*, 2007). Dough strips were placed in the sample holder having a gap of 23 mm and held firmly in place on each side of the holder by double-sided adhesive tape. Measurement was carried out within 1 min to prevent moisture loss. The test was carried out in a tension mode. TA-XT2 settings were: Pre-test: 2.0 mm/s, Test speed 3.3 mm/s, Post-test speed: 10 mm/s, Distance 120 mm, Trigger force: auto- 5 g. The test was repeated at least 3 times per sample. The peak force or resistance to extension and the distance of dough extension at which the peak force occurred were measured.

Stickiness of protein dough

Dough stickiness was measured with a TA-XT2 Texture Analyser using SMS/Chen-Hoseney dough stickiness rig (A/DSC) and a 25 mm perpex cylinder probe (P/25P) (Grausgruber *et al.*, 2003). Dough (1g) formed into a ball was allowed to rest for 15 min and placed in the sample chamber. The internal screw was rotated to extrude a small amount of the dough through the extrusion hole. This first extrudate was removed with a spatula from the stickiness rig. The perspex cap was placed on the extrudate lid and approximately 1 mm dough was extruded by rotating the screw again. The screw was rotated slightly backwards to reduce pressure and to ensure that the dough was not extruded further under tension. After resting for 30 s, the dough stickiness cell was placed directly under the texture analyser probe. The perspex cap was removed and the test was started. The Texture Analyser settings for these



measurements were as follows: Test option: adhesive test, Pre-test speed: 0.5 mm/s, Test speed: 0.5 mm/s, Post-test speed: 10 mm/s, Distance: 4 mm, Force: 40 g, Trigger-type: auto-5g, Data acquisition: 500 pps. The stickiness test was done in triplicate for each sample.

Dynamic small oscillatory measurement

Dynamic small oscillatory experiments were performed using Physica MCR 301 Rheometer (Anton Paar, Ostfildern, Germany) equipped with two parallel plates (d= 25 mm). The gap between the plates was set at 2 mm for all experiments. Dough (3 g) was loaded on a temperature controlled (25° C) lower plate and the upper plate was lowered onto the dough. Excess dough was trimmed off using a razor blade and the periphery of the sample was covered with a thin layer of paraffin oil to prevent dehydration (Oom *et al.*, 2008). The dough was allowed to equilibrate for 15 min before the start of each test. To determine the linear viscoelastic range, a series of amplitude sweep tests was conducted over strain amplitude range of 0.01-100% at a constant angular frequency of 6.28 rad/s.

The mechanical spectra of protein doughs were determined by performing an oscillatory shear tests over a frequency range of 0.01 to 100 rad/s, at a constant strain amplitude of 0.5%, which was within the linear viscoelastic region. Storage modulus G', loss modulus G' and tan δ were continuously monitored during. All tests were repeated at least twice per sample.

3.3.2.4. Rheological properties of peroxidase treated protein dough

The effect of peroxidase on dough rheological properties was monitored by performing a time sweeps test. 85 U of horseradish peroxidase (236 units/mg) (Sigma, P8250) and 100 μ l of 30% hydrogen peroxide were added to 3 g of dough at 44.8% water content (flour basis). Dough was incubated in-situ in a temperature controlled rheometer where plates were set at 37°C. The dough was allowed to equilibrate for 15 min and the time scan was conducted over a period of 10800 s at a constant angular frequency of 6.28 rad/s and 0.5 % strain amplitude (within the linear viscoelastic range). The reference dough sample was incubated in the same manner but without peroxidase and hydrogen peroxide. Storage modulus, loss modulus and tan & were recorded every 60s. The test was repeated twice per sample. At the end of the time



scan, the dough was recovered, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and kept at -20°C. Frozen dough samples were freeze dried and used in subsequent experiments.

SDS-PAGE

Dough samples were analysed by SDS-PAGE under reducing and non-reducing conditions (on a gradient gel containing 4–12% polyacrylamide (Taylor *et al.*, 2007). Gels were stained overnight with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R-250.

HPLC/MS

Tyrosine and dityrosine in protein extracts and dough samples were determined by Reverse-phase HPLC and Mass Spectrometry (MS) (Michon *et al.*, 1999). Proteins were hydrolysed in 6 N HCl (0.05 μ g protein/ μ l) containing 0.1% phenol under vacuum for 24 h at 110°C (Tilley *et al.*, 2001). Hydrolysed protein samples were dried under vacuum in a rotary evaporator at 50°C. The dried sample was solubilised with water containing 0.06% Trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) using syringe driven filter unit (Millex, LH, 0.45 μ m, Nihon Millipore, Tokyo, Japan). The detection of these aromatic compounds was done at 283 nm (Michon *et al.*, 1999). The amino acids were separated on Reverse phase C₁₈ columns (250 X 4.6 mm I.D., 5 μ m, 12 nm, YMC Co. Ldt, Kyoto, Japan), flow rate 1 ml/ min, and sample size of 20 μ l. Mobile phases consisting of 75% acetonitrile containing 0.04% TFA (medium B) and water containing 0.06% TFA were used. After 5 min wash, a 5% to 25% gradient was applied over 8 min (Michon *et al.*, 1999).

The amino acid fractions recovered by HPLC were further analysed with a Linear Ion Trap Triple Quadrupole Mass Spectrometer (4000 Q trap AB, Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA, USA). The positive mode was used for ionisation. The mass scan was performed in the following ranges: 180-185 m/z for tyrosine and 350-370 m/z for dityrosine (Takasaki *et al.*, 2005).

3.3.2.5. Statistical analysis

Means were calculated and Analysis of Variance was performed on the data where appropriate. LSD (Fisher's test) was used for mean separation at a 5% level of significance. Statistica for Windows (Statsoft, Tulsa, OK, USA) package was used for data analysis.



3.3.3. Results and discussion

3.3.3.1. Chemical composition of protein preparations

Marama and soya protein preparations had similar protein contents, which were higher than that of wheat gluten (Table 3.3.1). Moisture and ash contents were similar among the three protein samples. The protein content of the soya protein preparation is agreement with previous work (Hua *et al.*, 2005). Labat *et al.* (2001) also reported a similar protein content for gluten. Chemical composition data for the marama protein preparation are in agreement with results from research Section 3.2.

Table 3.3.1 Chemical composition of marama protein, soya protein and wheat gluten

 preparations¹

	Moisture	Protein (N x 5.7)	Ash
Samples	(g/100 g)	(g/100 g)	(g/100 g)
Marama protein	$4.5^{b} \pm 0.4$	$85.2^{b} \pm 1.0$	$1.1^{b} \pm 0.1$
Soya protein	$4.6^{b} \pm 0.5$	$84.7^{b} \pm 1.3$	$1.5^{c} \pm 0.2$
Wheat gluten	$3.7^{a} \pm 0.4$	$73.4^{a} \pm 1.2$	$0.6^{a} \pm 0.2$

¹*Mean* $(n = 4) \pm SD$. *Protein and ash contents are expressed on dry basis.*

3.3.3.2. Thermal properties of marama protein

Marama protein showed one major endothermal peak at around 96°C in contrast to soya protein which showed two peaks at around 76°C and 91°C, respectively (Fig. 3.3.1). These peaks in soya correspond to thermal denaturation temperatures of β -conglycinin and glycinin, respectively (Renkema *et al.*, 2001; Shand *et al.*, 2007). Differences in network structure and interaction have been found to be responsible for differences in thermal behaviour between the two soya protein fractions (German *et al.*, 1982; Renkema *et al.*, 2001). The single transition observed in marama was very broad. The enthalpy (8.5 ± 0.4 J/g) of marama protein was slightly higher than that of soya glycinin (11S) (5.0 ± 0.6 J/g). This indicates that marama protein has greater heat stability compared to soya glycinin (11S).

In soya bean, disulphide bonds between pairs of acid and basic polypeptides subunits of glycinin (11S) have been found to be mainly responsible for its stability (Kinsella, 1979; Mujoo *et al.*, 2003). In research Section 3.2, most polypeptides in marama were



found to be basic legumin (11S). The acidic 11S subunits were absent and there was also no evidence of disulphide bonds. Unlike hydrogen bonds and electrostatic interactions, hydrophobic interactions are endothermic. As a result, they are stabilised as temperature increases (Creighton, 1993). The thermal stability of marama protein may therefore be attributed to hydrophobic protein interactions as suggested for the basic soya glycinin (German *et al.*, 1982). The high tyrosine content in marama protein (Table 3.2.2) may also contribute in a way to the structural stability of its protein structure. This is because tyrosine is involved in protein crosslinking (Takasaki *et al.*, 2005).

Furthermore, since no transition corresponding to vicilin (7S) was observed in marama protein compared to soya protein, DSC data seem be in agreement with protein composition results (Figs 3.2.2 & 3.2.3), thus confirming the absence of vicilin (7S) fraction in marama protein.



Figure 3.3.1 Typical DSC thermograms of marama and soya protein preparations

3.3.3.3. Rheological properties of marama protein

Marama protein was more extensible than the wheat gluten (Fig. 3.3.2). However, gluten showed more resistance to extension compared to marama protein. Soya protein had a significantly reduced extensibility when compared with marama protein (Figs. 3.3.2, 3.3.3 & 3.3.4). The resistance to extension of gluten has been reported to be related to its high molecular weight glutenin subunits (Tronsmo *et al.*, 2003), List of research project topics and materials



which are mainly stabilised by disulphide bonds (Kinsella, 1979; Song & Zheng, 2007). The extensibility of both marama protein and gluten was increased with increasing dough water content. This is probably due to the plasticising effect of water. At approximately 38% water content, the extensibility of marama protein ($60 \pm 2.4 \text{ mm}$) was about twice that of gluten. Marama protein was extremely extensible (> 120 mm) when the dough water content was increased from 38 to 45% (Fig. 3.3.3). At 52% water content, marama protein appeared more like a viscous fluid. This is unlike the situation with gluten where it was possible to form dough with well defined shape at all the water contents.

Due to the difficulties in forming dough with soya protein and the lack of the repeatability of results, soya was not included in subsequent rheological measurements.









Figure 3.3.3 Extensibility of marama protein at 45% water content (flour basis) using a TA-XT2 Texture Analyser a: Start, b: Extension



Figure 3.3.4 Extensibility of soya protein using a TA-XT2 Texture Analyser a: Start, b: Extension, c: Break

The adhesiveness of marama protein at varying water contents was further compared with that of gluten. This was estimated from the stickiness analysis (Figure 3.3.5). The maximum force $(287 \pm 15; 271 \pm 23 \text{ and } 264 \pm 17 \text{ g}$ at approximately 38, 45 and 52% water contents, respectively) attained before marama dough separated itself from the texture analyser probe was high, more than twice that of gluten. This force (also referred to as degree of stickiness) may be considered as force of adhesion (Adhikari *et al.*, 2001), holding the protein dough to the surface of the texture analyser probe. Marama protein thus formed a highly adhesive (sticky) dough compared with gluten. This is further indicated by high relaxation gradient of marama stickiness curves compared with gluten (Figure 3.3.6). Similarly, Dobraszczyk (1997) reported greater relaxation gradients for highly sticky dough. According to Huang and Hoseney (1999), sticky dough is a viscous dough that will flow and not overcome the adhesive forces.

Dynamic rheological measurements were then determined to elucidate the rheological behaviour of marama protein





Figure 3.3.5 Measuring the stickiness of marama dough with a Texture Analyser using SMS/Chen-Hoseney dough stickiness rig (A/DSC) and a 25 mm perspex cylinder probe (P/25P)



Figure 3.3.6 Typical stickiness curve of marama protein and wheat gluten dough at 37.8% water content (flour basis)Fp: maximum peak force at which the dough separates itself from the probe

The linear viscoelastic range (LVR) of marama protein was low, within 1% strain at approximately 38% water in comparison with gluten (15%). Unlike gluten, the LRV of marama increased from 1 to 5% strain when dough water contents were increased


from 38 to 52%. LVR of gluten in this study was within the range reported by Letang, Piau and Verdier (1999). The shorter LVR of marama compared to gluten suggests that it has a less stable protein structure.

Small oscillatory deformation performed within this linear range revealed the frequency dependency of storage (G') and loss (G") moduli for marama protein to be similar to that of gluten. Both G'and G" seemed to increase with increasing frequency (0.1 – 100 Hz) (Fig. 3.3.7). However, G' and G" decreased with increasing dough water contents (Table 3.3.2). This is because water has been reported to behave like a plasticizer reducing both the viscous and elastic behaviour of proteins (Masi et al., 1998). Similar reductions in G' and G" with increasing water content have been reported for wheat flour dough (Letang *et al.*, 1999). The loss tangent (Tan δ) values were low (0.2-0.5) for marama protein and these were similar to those of gluten (Table 3.3.2). Tan δ , defined as the ratio of G" over G', reflects the balance between the viscous and the elastic character of a viscoelastic material. Small dynamic deformation analysis is non-destructive and thus provides some information on the types of molecular bonding that may be responsible for the structural stability of proteins. A low tan δ value is often associated with a high degree of crosslinking (Tsiami et al., 1997; Mezger, 2006) and a stronger protein network. Marama protein thus appeared to have some structural stability, but only when small deformations were applied.

The difference in rheological behaviour between marama protein and gluten may be attributed to differences in types of molecular bonding responsible for the structural stability of the two proteins. However, marama protein may be similar to wheat gliadin when considering its rheological behaviour. The gliadin in gluten has been found to act like a plasticizer promoting gluten viscous behaviour and extensibility (Orth & Bushuk, 1972; Zaidel *et al.*, 2010). In wheat gluten, subunits can associate through hydrogen bonds (Belton, 1999). Unlike covalent disulphide bonds, hydrogen bonds can interchange easily (Belitz *et al.*, 1986), thus promoting viscous flow. Hydrogen bonding can form between the amide group of amino acids and glutamine. From research Section 3.2, there was no evidence of disulphide bonds in marama protein. Glutamic acid, which may include glutamine, is the most abundant amino acid in marama protein, accounting for about 15% of all amino acids. The viscous behavior and extensibility of marama protein may be attributed to hydrogen bonds

68



forming among the various subunits. Furthermore, in addition to non polar amino acids, marama protein has a higher content of aromatic amino acids compared to soya protein, which can also impart its hydrophobicity. Hydrophobic interactions may also contribute to the high stickiness (that is cohesion-adhesion properties) of marama protein. Possible covalent crosslinking between the tyrosine residues in marama protein may also play role.







A: 45% water content, B: 52% water content (flour basis)



		Dough at 45% water (flour basis)					
Sample	ω (1/s)	G' [kPa]	G" [kPa]	Tan & [1]	ŋ* [kPa.s]		
Marama	1	319.3 ± 38.9	86.7 ± 10.6	0.3 ± 0.0	330.5 ± 40.4		
	10	487.8 ± 57.9	119.6 ± 14.6	0.3 ± 0.0	50.2 ± 6.1		
	63.1	648.1 ± 79.4	157.5 ± 18.7	0.2 ± 0.0	10.6 ± 1.3		
	100	681.0 ± 83.2	167.5 ± 19.5	0.3 ± 0.0	7.0 ± 0.8		
Gluten	1	6.4 ± 1.8	2.3 ± 0.7	0.4 ± 0.0	6.8 ± 1.9		
	10	10.8 ± 3.0	4.9 ± 1.2	0.4 ± 0.0	1.2 ± 0.3		
	63.1	17.9 ± 5.1	10.0 ± 2.8	0.5 ± 0.0	3.3 ± 0.1		
	100	20.5 ± 5.8	12.1 ± 3.4	0.5 ± 0.0	2.4 ± 0.1		
	Dough at 52% water (flour basis)						
Marama	1	90.8 ± 24.3	24.3 ± 6.2	0.3 ± 0.0	93.6 ± 2.5		
	10	137.5 ± 31.8	31.4 ± 6.1	0.2 ± 0.0	14.1 ± 3.2		
	63.1	178.5 ± 34.6	39.4 ± 6.2	0.2 ± 0.0	2.9 ± 0.6		
	100	187.0 ± 31.1	42.2 ± 5.7	0.2 ± 0.0	1.9 ± 0.3		
Gluten	1	7.2 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.0	0.3 ± 0.0	7.6 ± 0.1		
	10	11.4 ± 0.3	4.9 ± 0.2	0.4 ± 0.0	1.2 ± 0.0		
	63.1	16.8 ± 0.2	8.7 ± 0.9	0.5 ± 0.0	0.3 ± 0.0		
	100	18.8 ± 0.2	10.2 ± 0.1	0.5 ± 0.0	0.2 ± 0.0		

Table 3.3.2 Rheological properties of marama protein and gluten preparations¹

¹Mean \pm SD

3.3.3.4. Rheological properties of peroxidase treated marama protein dough

Changes in rheological properties of marama protein dough treated with peroxidase (POX) and untreated (no POX) were monitored over time. This was done to see whether the high tyrosine content in marama protein could contribute to its structural stability. With added peroxidase, the storage (G') modulus of marama protein dough increased with time (Fig. 3.3.8). Although a similar pattern was recorded for the untreated marama protein dough, the values of G' were lower than those of the treated dough. The rheological behaviour of marama protein dough was different from that of gluten dough (Fig. 3.3.8). Only a slight increase of G' was observed for treated gluten dough with time, while the untreated gluten dough remained almost unchanged during the time of incubation. The increase in G' for POX treated marama protein dough indicates that new protein networks were formed. These new networks probably resulted from tyrosine oxidation and crosslinking. Takasaki *et al.* (2005) 70



reported the formation of dityrosine crosslinks in wheat flour dough when incubated with POX and hydrogen peroxide. The difference in dough response to POX between marama protein dough and gluten dough may be attributed to differences in tyrosine contents between the two proteins and to some extent to the accessibility of POX enzyme to tyrosine. The increase in G' for the untreated marama protein dough may also be due to tyrosine oxidation caused by reaction with atmospheric oxygen and /or endogenous enzymes present in the dough.





SDS-PAGE of marama protein doughs collected at the end of incubation was performed to determine the types of protein crosslinks that were formed. Unlike gluten dough, SDS-PAGE of marama protein dough revealed the presence of high molecular protein bands under reducing condition indicated by the arrows in lane 1, Fig. 3.3.9. The absence of high molecular weight proteins in gluten under reducing condition is due to the fact that disulphide types of linkages are responsible for its structural stability (Song & Zheng, 2007). The high molecular weight proteins in marama protein are most likely stabilised by dityrosine types of crosslinks formed during tyrosine oxidation in the presence of POX.



Figure 3.3.9 SDS-PAGE of marama protein and gluten doughs treated with POX under reducing (R) and non-reducing (NR) conditions, Lane M: Molecular standards, Lane 1: Marama with POX, Lane 2: Marama without POX, Lane 3: Gluten with POX, Lane 4: Gluten without POX

To further elucidate the types of crosslinks responsible for the structural stability of marama protein, marama protein extract and incubated dough samples were analysed by HPLC. Tyrosine eluted at about 12 min in marama and soya samples (Figs. 3.3.10 & 3.3.11). Spiking of protein hydrolysates with tyrosine standard was used to confirm the tyrosine peak. In addition to tyrosine peak, POX treated marama protein dough had about 10 additional peaks, similar to gluten (Figs. 3.3.12 & 3.3.13). The concentrations of these peaks were low in untreated proteins compared to those treated with POX. Among these peaks, those eluting at around 16.5, 17.5, 18, and 22.3 min were tentatively identified as tyrosine crosslinks by reference to Michon *et al.* (1999), Tilley *et al.* (2001), Peña *et al.* (2006).

To confirm the identity of the eluted compounds, they were analysed by Quadrupole mass spectrometry. A compound with m/z of 182.2 corresponding to tyrosine (Tilley *et al.*, 2001; Peña *et al.*, 2006) was detected in the compound eluting at about 12 min (Fig. 3.3.12). Among the remaining peaks, only those recovered at 16.5, 17.5, 23.2 min revealed compound with m/z 360.5 or 361 (Fig. 3.3.14), which corresponds to dityrosine crosslinks (Peña *et al.*, 2006; Takasaki *et al.*, 2005). Possibly, different types of tyrosine crosslinks including di, tri and a more complex form have been obtained. Marama protein seems to contain some dityrosine crosslinks with additional



similar crosslinks forming during incubation of dough with POX. Dityrosine crosslinks may therefore be important in structural stability of marama protein.



Figure 3.3.10 Reverse - phase HPLC of tyrosine standard



Figure 3.3.11 Reverse - phase HPLC of hydrolysed marama and soya proteins A: marama, B: soya





Figure 3.3.12 Reverse - phase HPLC of hydrolysed marama protein dough treated with POX

A: marama with POX, B: marama without POX













Figure 3.3.14 Typical tyrosine and dityrosine MS peaks for marama protein dough incubated with POX Positive mode was used for ionisation

3.3.4. Conclusions

Marama protein seems to be characterised by one major endothermal transition compared to soya protein, suggesting differences in protein structure. The heat stability of marama protein is slightly higher than that of soya glycinin (11S). Marama protein is characterised by highly viscous behaviour and extensibility compared to soya and even gluten. It also forms a highly adhesive (sticky) dough. Marama has a less stable protein structure compared with gluten. Dityrosine may be important in the structural stability of marama protein through tyrosine oxidation with oxidative enzyme and crosslinking. This may be of interest in food and non-food applications.



4. GENERAL DISCUSSION

The first part of the general discussion is a critical review of methodology. It mainly discusses how the different methods were used and applied. The second part discusses the relationship between marama protein composition and its functionality. The third part is a brief discussion on the potential applications of marama protein in food and non-food systems.

4.1 Critical review of methodology

For the microscopy study, tissue sections were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde for 48 h, post-fixed in osmium and subsequently dehydrated in a graded series ethanol solutions according to Young *et al.*, 2004. The constituents of protein storage organelles: phytin and some associated K⁺ could be lost in the aqueous solution of glutaraldehyde and osmium (Lott & Buttrose, 1978). Some protein body organelles, which have been referred to as globoid inclusions (Lott & Buttrose, 1978; Young *et al.*, 2004) in this study may correspond to regions that may have lost their cations during fixation. However, according to Chrispeels *et al.* (1976) the protein bodies could be preserved under the fixation conditions used in this study. Lott *et al.* (1984) used reduced time of fixation to minimise the exposure of tissues to water and prevent extraction of the water-soluble storage protein organelles. The method of fixation that was used in this study is a standard method that has been used for soya (Boatright & Kim, 2000) and peanuts (Young *et al.*, 2000). The reduction of the time of fixation would have been a useful approach if the main focus of this study was on the characterisation of the storage protein organelles.

From this study, it appeared that most protein bodies in marama bean were spherical, which is in agreement with the reported microstructure of protein bodies in oilseed legumes (Lott & Buttrose, 1978; Young *et al.*, 2004). However, some protein bodies in marama had distorted and/or elongated shapes. This variation in shape could also be due to the angle of sections or artefacts. Differences in the stage of maturation state of the protein bodies may also have led to shape distortion when dehydration takes place as described by Lewicki and Pawlak (2003). Enzymatic treatment with Proteinase K was useful to elucidate the protein bodies of an unknown oilseed legume like the marama bean. The use of Proteinase K revealed that the protein bodies in



marama are membrane bound, which is in agreement with previous reports on microstructure of protein bodies in legumes (Lott & Buttrose, 1978; Lott, 1981). Proteinase K is a stable serine protease (Ebeling *et al.*, (1974). It is active at pH 7-11 and has a broad range of substrate specificities (Rao *et al.*, 1998). This enzyme has been used to hydrolyse protein bodies in maize, wheat and peas (Miflin & Burgess, 1982). Since it is practically impossible to avoid the generation of artefacts during sample preparation for microscopy, multi-imaging techniques are recommended for microstructure analysis for better interpretation of results. In this study, imaging techniques based on light microscopy, transmission electron microscopy and confocal laser scanning microscopy were therefore used for better understanding and interpretation of marama bean microstructure in comparison with soya bean.

In this study, the solubilisation method based on Tris-buffer (pH 8.0) containing 0.5 M NaCl followed by dialysis (Aluko & Yada, 1995) was used to extract storage proteins. Some authors have used the traditional method of alkaline solubilisation followed by acid precipitation to extract storage protein from legumes such as cowpea (Horax et al., 2004), lupin (Lqari et al., 2002) and beach pea (Chavan et al., 2001). Unlike the dialysis method, acid precipitation may cause partial denaturation of proteins (Owusu-apenten, 2005). Globulins are the major storage of proteins of most legumes (Bailey and Boulter, 1972; Chavan et al., 2001; Liu et al., 2007; Adebowale et al., 2007). But, other protein fractions like the glutelins and prolamins are sometimes present in minor quantities. For instance, prolamins have been reported in minor quantities in beach pea protein, a leguminous plant found in Canada and Japan (Chavan et al., 2001) and some species of mucuna bean (Adebowale et al., 2007). These protein fractions if present in marama seed may have eluded from the analysis due to the method of solubilisation that was used in this study. However, extracted proteins from marama have been considered to be sufficiently representative due to the similarity observed in SDS-PAGE patterns of proteins from the marama protein extract and defatted marama flour.

Furthermore, marama plants currently grow in the wild and efforts to cultivate the crop have only just been initiated. As a result, the first most common specie of marama *T. esculentum* that was available during the period of the study was used in comparison with soya bean. Five species of marama bean have currently been



identified (Castro *et al.*, 2005). The second most common species of marama bean *T*. *fassoglense* may be included in future studies for a better comparison.

Molecular and structural characterisations of marama protein were determined using one-dimensional (1D) SDS-PAGE and a two-dimensional (2D) SDS-PAGE-IEF proteomic technique. Visual quantification based on staining density was used to quantify the proteins. Considering the fact that thousands of proteins may be resolved, it is possible to have many proteins co-migrating at the same spot (Gygi *et al.*, 2000). The relative quantities of protein spots in the 2D gels may have been influenced if co-migration of proteins occurred with marama. Coomassie Brilliant Blue R-250 was used to stain the gels. Low-abundance proteins, if present in marama, may have eluded the analysis due to the low sensitivity of this dye compared with silver staining (Posh *et al.*, 2006). Silver staining is a better alternative to Coomassie due to its higher sensitivity. The silver stain was used on 2D gels at the initial stages of this study. However, poor quality gels were obtained. Spots in the gel could not be differentiated and identified due the abundance of basic proteins in marama.

Some alternative approaches have been employed to address the technical problems associated with co-migration of proteins, repeatability, and recovery of hydrophobic and low-abundance proteins in proteomics. These include pre-electrophoretic fractionation to simplify the protein mixture (Butt et al., 2001) and the use of fluorescence dye to label the proteins (Tonge et al. 2001). The fluorescence dye method, known as Difference Gel Electrophoresis (DIGE) relies on preelectrophoretic labelling of the sample with three spectra distinct fluorescence, Cyanine -2 (Cy2), Cyanine-3 (Cyn3) or Cyanine -5 (Cy 5) (Butt et al., 2001). Labelling takes place via lysine residues and it is carried out stoichiometrically such that only a small portion of the protein is labelled. This makes the procedure compatible with in-gel digestion and mass spectrometry. The most up to date method for complex proteins analysis is based on mass spectrometry. Peptides derived from 1D and 2D electrophoresis are proteolytically cleaved into small peptides, which are analysed by Matrix Assisted Laser Desorption Ionisation Time-of-flight- Mass Spectrometry (MALDI-TOF/MS) and/or Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS) (Tilley et al., 2001; Hanft & Koehler, 2005). Mass spectrometry techniques have been used to identity constituent polypeptides of storage protein in legumes such as in soya bean (Natarajan et al., 2005), lupin (Magni et al., 2007) and peanuts 79



(Kottapalli *et al.*, 2008). These techniques would have been appropriate to use in the study of the marama proteome. However, due to equipment limitations and financial constraints, it was not possible to do mass spectrometry analysis of marama protein. Nevertheless, the initial separation using 2D proteomic technique proved useful to understand the pattern of the marama proteome map and to compare this with soya bean protein.

High Liquid Performance Chromatography (HPLC) was used to separate and quantify the individual amino acid residues in marama protein. One important step in amino acid determination is the complete hydrolysis prior to chromatographic analysis. For a successful hydrolysis, the reagent must be capable of cleaving the peptide and the peptide must be accessibility to the hydrolytic reagent. The most common method of acid hydrolysis (in liquid phase) was used in this study. This method of hydrolysis causes complete lost or partial destruction of certain amino acids (Bartolomeo & Maisano, 2006; Foutoulakis & Lahm, 1998). For instance, tryptophan is completely lost while cysteine cannot be recovered completely. Asparagine and glutamine are completely hydrolysed into aspartic and glutamic acid, respectively. Tyrosine may be partially lost, while methionine may be oxidised in the presence of oxygen. Some protective measures were taken in this study to prevent loss. These measures consisted of hydrolysing proteins under vacuum and adding the additive phenol according to Tilley et al. (2001). Phenol serves as scavenger to substantially reduce the loss of tyrosine (Lipton & Bodwell, 1976; Pickering & Newton, 1990). Methods have been reported in the literature for more accurate quantification of amino acids such as tryptophan (Wu & Hojilla-Evangelista, 2005), methionine and cyteine (Wathelet, 1999; Wu & Hojilla-Evangelista, 2005), which are not preserved by acid hydrolysis. The knowledge of the complete profile of amino acids in marama bean may be important from a nutritional point of view and to better explain its protein functionality.

After hydrolysis, constituent amino acids must be derivatised for detection. Ophtalaldehyde (OPA) may be used for both pre and post column derivatisation. OPA reacts with primary amines in an aqueous basic medium (pH 9-11) and in the presence of a mercaptan (RSH such as 2-mercaptoethanol), to form a fluorescent isoindole derivative (Fig. 4.1) (Roth, 1971). In this study, the Pico-tag method based on precolumn derivatisation following the protein hydrolysis was used for amino acid



detection. This involves the derivatisation of amino acids in the hydrolysates and separation is by Reverse-phase chromatography. Pre-column derivatisation method implies extensive sample manipulation before analysis. This method is also affected by limited stability of the preformed derivative (Mengerink *et al.*, 2002) compared with the classical technique based on ion-exchange separation coupled with post-column derivatisation, which was found to be more precise (Anders, 2002).



Non-fluorescent degradation product

Figure 4.2 Reaction of OPA with a primary amine (Ex: excitation wavelength, Em: Emission wavelength) (Roth, 1971)

A reverse-phase chromatographic method was also used to separate tyrosine and dityrosine in marama protein. Although existing literature was useful in the understanding and interpretation of rheological data, it would have been more appropriate to have included internal standards in the experiment. Takasaki *et al.* (2005) introduced internal tyrosine and dityrosine standards when studying the effect of peroxidase and hydrogen peroxide on the dityrosine formation in wheat flour dough. The production of these internal standards involves a very complex procedure, which consists of synthesising, purification and confirmation of identity (Kikugawa *et al.*, 1991; Takasaki *et al.*, 2005). The production of these standards was beyond the scope of this study.

In this study, Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) was used to evaluate the thermal behaviour of marama protein. DSC is based on a two pan arrangement consisting of a reference pan and a sample pan in a temperature controlled enclosure (Schawe, 1995). The change of the difference in the heat flow rate to the sample and to the reference sample is measured during the DSC analysis. DSC has been used to determine T_d of many legume proteins and to provide useful information on protein



structures and compositions (Meng & Ma, 2001; Horax *et al.*, 2004). Water content of protein may influence measured parameters including T_d and ΔH of proteins (Kitabatake *et al.*, 1990). Alternatively, the use of high pressure DSC has been reported by Zhu *et al.* (2004). This enables the characterisation of thermal behaviour of protein under pressure, thus preventing water evaporating that would have occurred with the normal DSC.

Information on the rheological properties of proteins may be obtained by performing empirical tests (Weipert *et al.*, 1990; Mezger, 2006). These tests are based on large deformations of materials and are performed using equipment such as the extensograph, TA-XT2 Texture Analyser and Kieffer extensibility rig (Zaidel *et al.*, 2010). The extensibility and stickiness of marama protein were determined using a TA-XT2 Texture Analyser. Many factors including the mixing conditions and dough development (Mirsaeedghazi *et al.*, 2008), hydration / water content (Gras *et al.*, 2000), protein content, composition and interaction with non-protein material (Ortiz *et al.*, 2004) may have influenced these properties. In this study, dough samples were manually prepared by mixing with a spatula until a homogeneous dough was obtained. Mechanical mixing may have been more efficient than the manual mixing in terms of network formation and dough development. Over-mixing or under-mixing has been found to affect the pattern and network formation and dough quality (Zaidel *et al.*, 2010; Mirsaeedghazi *et al.*, 2008). Gluten showed a low complex modulus (G*) when the mixing time was shorter than the optimum (Zaidel *et al.*, 2010).

Frequency sweep experiments were performed to determine the mechanical spectra of marama protein using a rheometer. This is a dynamic oscillation test and is performed without altering the internal network structure to determine the viscoelastic properties of proteins (Mezger, 2006). The principle of small oscillatory deformation measurement is based on the use of two parallel plates, one rotating in sinusoidal motion and the other is stationary. Rheological information such storage modulus (G') (representing the elastic component) and loss modulus (G'') (representing the viscous component) of the material being measured are automatically generated (Mezger, 2006). Dehydration and material slippage between the plates are problems that may arise during analysis. In this study, paraffin oil as used by Oom *et al.* (2008) was employed to prevent dehydration of the dough. To prevent possible occurrence of slippage of samples between the plates, some authors have placed sandpaper at the

82



bottom plate before the sample, e.g. Zang *et al.* (1991). However, many authors have also obtained useful information on viscoelastic characteristics of both cereal and legume proteins without placing the sample on a rough surfaces (Oom *et al.*, 2008; Ortiz *et al.*, 2004). Although no visible slippage was observed during analysis, the use of rough surface may be considered in future studies.

4.2 Relationship between marama protein composition and functionality

The composition of seed protein has been found to influence its functionality (Tolstoguzov, 1993; Horax *et al.*, 2004; Yuan *et al.*, 2009). According to Damodaran (1997), the physicochemical properties that influence functional behaviour of proteins in food include their amino acid composition and sequence, hydrophobicity, structures (secondary, tertiary and quaternary) as well as molecular flexibility/rigidity in response to external environment (pH, temperature, salt concentration) or interaction with other food constituents.

Marama protein was characterised by greater heat stability compared to soya glycinin (11S). Thermal stability of proteins has been found to significant correlate with protein composition (Horax *et al.*, 2004) and structure (Ortiz *et al.*, 2004). Marama protein contains a high proportion of aromatic amino acids compared to soya protein. These amino acids in addition to non polar aliphatic ones can impart a hydrophobic character (Nakai *et al.*, 1986), which can stabilise the protein during thermal analysis.

In terms of protein structure, the β -sheet is reported to be more stable than α -helix, thus displaying high denaturation temperature (Damodaran, 1988). The high thermal denaturation temperatures of β -lactoglobulin and soya glycinin (11S) have been associated with their high proportions of β -sheet structure, respectively 51% and 64% (Damodaran 1988; Damodaran, 1989). The thermal stability of marama protein may therefore be related to its protein structure. Possibly, it contains a high proportion of β -sheet structure, similar to 11S soya glycinin (Hou & Chang, 2004; Zhao *et al.*, 2008).

Marama proteins were found to be composed of low (LMW) and higher (HMW) molecular weight proteins (Fig. 4.2). By comparison with soya protein, the LMW proteins represent the basic 11S legumin (monomers). The basic monomers in



marama protein are most likely stabilised by hydrophobic interactions, as suggested for the basic soya glycinin (11S) (Mo *et al.*, 2006; Yuan *et al.*, 2009). The HMW proteins in marama may be classified into two groups of 63 kDa and 148 kDa based on their relative mobility in SDS-PAGE. As already discussed in research Section 2.3, these proteins are most likely stabilised by dityrosine bonds since they were not reduced by a reducing agent.



Figure 4.3 Summary diagram of proposed marama protein composition

In the proposed model to explain the molecular basis of the rheological properties of marama protein (Fig. 4.3), the HMW proteins in marama are considered to form linear chain of polymers linked together by intramolecular tyrosine bonds and may represent the backbone for the viscous flow behaviour and extensibility of marama protein (Fig. 4.3 a). Belton (1999) proposed a "loop and train model" to explain gluten's elasticity. According to his model, gluten dough development involves glutenin polypeptide interaction with each other by hydrogen bonds. In this study, there was no evidence of disulphide bonds in marama protein. Therefore, the linear chains of polymers in marama most likely interact with each other mainly by intermolecular hydrogen bonding. Hydrogen bonds can be formed between glutamine and hydroxyl residues in gluten (Belitz et al., 1986; Damodaran, 1996). Glutamic acid, which accounts for about 15% in marama, may be present in the form of glutamine, favouring the formation of hydrogen bonding as suggested for gluten (Belton et al., 1995). The highly viscous character and extensibility of marama protein suggests that molecular movement of linear polypeptide chains relative to one another is taking place. Unlike covalent bonds, hydrogen bonds interchange easily (Belitz et al., 1986). They can 84



separate and reform during deformation. Marama is also richer in proline compared to soya. This amino acid in combination with glutamine can enhance the viscous properties of dough, as suggested for gluten of certain soft winter wheats (Fermin *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 4.4 Proposed model for marama protein composition-functionality relationship and applications



As suggested above, the protein in marama may contain a high proportion of β -sheet structure, similar to soya 11S glycinin. It may also contain a low proportion of the α -helix structure since both structures (β -sheet and α -helix) have been reported in soya protein fractions (Hou & Chang, 2004; Zhao *et al.*, 2008). Most LMW proteins, which represent the basic monomers in marama protein, are proposed to fit in the interior coil of the α -helix since these are small molecules (Fig. 4.3). These monomers are assumed to be interacting with the linear polymers by van der Waals forces of attraction and to some extent by electrostatic interactions with positively charged polypeptides. A section showing different linear polypeptide species of marama protein is shown in the model (Fig. 4.3 a). During extension/stretching, these linear polymers are proposed to slide over one another resulting into high extensibility (Fig. 4.3 b). The α -helix within the linear chains and possibly other types of structures like the β -turns, which could be present, will also open up, thus contributing to the extensibility of marama protein.

Marama protein formed a highly adhesive dough compared with gluten. Several theories have been proposed to the theory of adhesion. The most widely accepted theory of adhesion is the adsorption theory (Kinlock, 1987). This theory proposes that material will adhere because of interatomic and intermolecular forces (mainly Van der Waals forces), which are established between atoms and molecules at the surface of the adhesive and the substrate. Hydrogen bonds can also form abnormally strong dipole-dipole attractions involving -OH and -NH groups (Sun, 2005). Attraction between an adhesive polymer such as marama protein and a substrate may thus involve van der Waals forces and hydrogen bonding (Sun, 2005). In gluten, hydrogen bonding between amide and hydroxyl groups contributes to the cohesion-adhesion properties of its dough (Damodaran, 1996). Polar side chains on the surface of marama protein, which are hydrogen bonded with water could induce a dipole in non polar molecules at the surface of the substrate (surface) (Fig. 4.3 c).

High viscous flow and extensibility as observed for marama protein suggests that it lacks strength and elasticity. With POX, rheological data indicated that new and stronger protein networks have been formed in marama protein. These new networks probably resulted from tyrosine oxidation and crosslinking (Fig. 4.4). Takasaki *et al.* (2005) proposed a mechanism of POX catalysed oxidation of tyrosine (Fig. 4.5). Horseradish POX, which was used in this study, binds to the substrate (tyrosine) via



contact catalysis to oxidise it (Takasaki *et al.*, 2005). This study suggests that the structural stability of marama protein and dough strength may be improved by the addition of crosslinking enzymes in dough during preparation.



Figure 4.5 Formation of protein-bound tyrosine and dityrosine by a radical mechanism (Hanft & Koehler, 2005)

HRP	+	H_2O_2	\longrightarrow	CI	
CI	+	R-Tyr	\longrightarrow	CII +	R-Tyr•
CII	+	R-Tyr	\longrightarrow	HRP +	R-Tyr•
		2R-Tyr•	\longrightarrow	$(R-Tyr)_2$	

Figure 4.6 Mechanism of horseradish POX (HRP) catalysed oxidation of tyrosine (Michon *et al.*, 1999)

R-tyr: tyrosine residue (tyr) in a polypeptide (R), R-Tyr•: Tyrosyl (tyr•) in a polypeptide (R); CI: compound I (Ferryl species (Fe (IV) = O + porphyrin radical cation), CII: compound II (intermediate enzyme retaining the heme in Ferryl (Fe (IV) = O) state) (Rodriguez-Lopez *et al.*, 2001)



4.3 Potential applications

Marama protein may have some unique applications in food and non-food systems compared to soya protein (Fig. 4.3 d). In baked goods applications, factors to be considered to produce good quality bread from dough have been described by Sliwinski *et al.* (2004). According to these authors, dough must have high viscosity to prevent gas cells rising and should be extensible at high level to prevent sudden breakage in gas cell membranes. Marama protein may be useful for gas retention in bread dough due to its high extensibility (Fig. 4.3 d). However, some degree of elasticity and dough strength will be required to derive the full utilisation of marama protein, especially in the production of gluten-free products. A crosslinking enzyme such as POX may be employed to improve the viscoelastic properties of marama dough in terms of elasticity.

In non-food applications, marama protein may have some potential as a bioadhesive due to its high adhesiveness compared to soya protein and even gluten. The bioadhesive potential of gliadin nanoparticles has been explored in literature (Ezpeleta et al., 1996; Arangoa et al., 2000). Since marama protein is also characterised by viscous flow behaviour and extensibility, similar to wheat gliadin, its protein just like gliadin may be therefore explored in microspheres/nanoparticles. Microspheres may be employed in the production of biodegradable films for packaging (Krochta & Mulder-Johnston, 1997). Bioadhesives from protein microspheres /nanoparticles may be useful as drug carrier to increase the drug residence time and therapeutic efficiency in pharmaceutical (Kramer, 1974; Arangoa et al., 2000). Protein nanoparticles have been reported to be incorporated into a variety of drugs in a non-specific manner (Kramer, 1974). Therefore their use as drug carriers in drug delivery has an advantage over other carriers from synthetic polymers. Proteins possess functional groups which can easily be adsorbed or covalently bonded to molecules such as antibodies (Alasaka et al., 1988) and lectins (Woodley & Naibett, 1988), which are capable of modifying the properties of nanoparticles. Irach et al. (1995) have been able to produce nanoparticles from legumin (11S) storage protein of peas (Pisium sativa). The production of nanoparticles from legume protein such as marama bean is thus feasible.



5. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The protein body microstructure of marama is similar to soya in terms of spherical shape and localisation within the parenchyma cells. However, marama bean protein bodies contain spherical globoid and druse crystal inclusions, which are absent in soya bean protein bodies.

The protein composition of marama bean is very different from that of soya bean and apparently for that matter different from other legumes. Marama protein contains a substantial amount of tyrosine. It is also slightly richer in proline compared to soya. Since tyrosine is involved in polypeptide crosslinking, the tyrosine in marama may contribute to the structural stability of its protein. The vicilin (7S) and acidic 11S subunits present in soya protein seem to be absent in marama protein. Only a major basic legumin (11S) (20 kDa) and two additional proteins of about 63 kDa and 148 kDa are found in marama. Also, disulphide bonds seem to be absent in marama protein. The pI's of most polypeptides in the marama proteome map are between 6-10, indicating that marama is a more basic protein compared to soya protein.

The functionality of marama protein in terms of thermal and rheological properties is different from that of soya protein. Marama protein is characterised by one major endothermal transition compared with soya protein, which has two. Marama protein seems to be more thermally stable compared to soya glycinin (11S). The thermal stability of marama protein may be attributed to hydrophobic interactions among its basic polypeptide subunits as suggested for the basic soya glycinin (11S). Marama protein has very high viscous flow and extensibility behaviour compared with soya protein and even gluten. It is also very adhesive compared with gluten. Non-covalent bonding between the polymers chains, namely hydrogen bonds are most likely responsible for the rheological behaviour of marama protein.

Further research is obviously required to elucidate the molecular basis of marama protein functionality and explore the unique functionality (e.g. high viscous flow and extensibility, high adhesiveness) of marama protein in food and non-food systems. It may be important to:



- i. Explore marama protein in the preparation and characterisation of microspheres and nanoparticles and determine the functionality of these particles in bioadhesives and bioplastic films.
- ii. Explore the functionality of marama protein in the production of gluten-free products.
- iii. Determine the functionality of marama protein in biodegradable chewing gum.



6. REFERENCES

- Adebowale, A. Y., Adeyemi, A. I., Oshodi, A. A., & Niranjan, K. (2007). Isolation, fractionation and characterisation of protein from mucuna bean. *Food Chemistry*, 104, 287-299.
- Adebowale, Y. A., Adeyemi, I. A., & Oshodi, A. A. (2005). Variability in the physicochemical, nutritional and antinutritional attributes of six mucuna species. *Food Chemistry*, 89, 37–48.
- Adhikari, B., Howes, T., Bhandari, B. R., & Truong, V. (2001). Stickiness in foods: A review of mechanisms and test methods. *International Journal of Food Properties*, 4, 1–33.
- Aguilera, J. M. (2005). Why food microstructure. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 67, 3–11.
- Aguilera, J. M., & Stanley, D. W. (1999). Microstructural Principles of Food Processing and Engineering (2nd ed.). Gaithersburg, MD: Aspen Publishers Inc. (pp. 259-310).
- Alasaka, Y., Veda, H. Takayama, K., Machida, Y., & Nagai, T. (1988). Preparation and evaluation of bovine serum albumin nanospheres coated with monoclonal antibodies. *Drug Design and Delivery*, 3, 85-97.
- Aluko, R. E., & Yada, R. Y. (1995). Structure-function relationships of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*) globulin isolate: Influence of pH and NaCl on physicochemical and functional properties. *Food Chemistry*, 53, 259-265.
- Amarteifio, J. A., & Moholo, D. (1998). The chemical composition of four legumes consumed in Botswana. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 11, 329-332.
- Anders, J. C. (2002). Advances in amino acid analysis. *Biopharm International*, *4*, 32–39.
- AOAC (1984). *Official Methods of Analysis* (14th ed.). Arlington, VA: Association of Official Analytical Chemists.
- AOAC (2000). *Official Methods of Analysis* (17th ed.). Rockville, Maryland: Association of Official Analytical Chemists.
- Apata, D. F., & Ologhobo, D. A. (1994). Biochemical evaluation of some Nigerian legume seeds. *Food Chemistry*, 49, 333-338.



- Arangoa, M. A., Ponchel, G., Orecchioni, A. M., Renedo, M. J., Duchene, D., & Irache, J. M. (2000). Bioadhesive potential of gliadin nanoparticulate systems. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 11, 333–341.
- Arrese, L. E., Sorgentini, A. D., Wagner, R. J., & Añón, C. M. (1991).
 Electrophoretic, solubility and functional properties of commercial soy protein isolate. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *39*, 1029-1032.
- Bailey, C. J., & Boulter, D. (1972). The structure of vicilin of Vicia faba. Phytochemistry, 11, 9-64.
- Barac, B. M., Stanojevic P. S., Jovanovic, T. S., & Pesic B. M. (2004). Soy protein modification, APTEF, *BIBLID* (1450-7188), 35, 3-16.
- Bartolomeo, M. P., & Maisano, F. (2006). Validation of a Reversed-Phase HPLC method for quantification of amino acid analysis. *Journal of Biomolecular Techniques*, 17, 131-137.
- Bau, H. M., Villaume, C. F., Evard, F., Quemener, F., Nicolas, J. P., & Mejean, L. (1994). Effect of solid state fermentation using *Rhizopus oligosporus* sp. T-3 on elimination of antinutritional substances and modification of biochemical constituent of defatted rapeseed meal. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 65, 315-322.
- Belitz, H. D., Kieffer, R., Seilmeier, W., & Weisser, H. (1986). Structure and function of gluten proteins. *Cereal Chemistry*, 63, 336-341.
- Belton, P. S. (1999). On the elasticity of wheat gluten. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 29, 103–107.
- Belton, P. S., Colquhoun, I. J., Grant, A., Wellner, N., Field, J. M., Shewry, P. R., & Tatham, A. S. (1995). FTIR and NMR studies on the hydration of a high-*M*(r) subunit of glutenin. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 17, 74-8.
- Benjakul, S., Visessanguan, W., & Thummaratwasik, P. (2000). Isolation and characterisation of inhibitors from some Thai legume seeds. *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, 24, 107-12.
- Bhat, R., & Karim, A. A. (2009). Exploring the nutritional potential of wild and underutilised legumes. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 8, 305-331.
- Biaszczak W., Doblado, R., Frias, J., Vidal-Valverde, C., Sadowska, J., & Fornal, J. (2007). Microstructural and biochemical changes in raw and germinated



cowpea seeds upon high-pressure treatment. *Food Research International*, 40, 415–423.

- Bidlingmeyer, B. A., Cohen, A. S., & Tarvin, L. T. (1984). The PICO-TAG method for amino acid determination. *Journal of Chromatography*, *336*, 93-104.
- Boatright, W. L., & Kim, K. S. (2000). Effect of electron microscopy fixation pH on the ultrastructure of soybean protein bodies. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 48, 302-304.
- Boulter, D. (1977). Protein quality from leguminous crops, Commission of the European Communities, Coordination of Agricultural Research (Eur. 5686 En., pp. 11–47), Luxembourg.
- Bower, T., Hertel, K., Oh, J., & Storey, R. (1988). Nutritional evaluation of marama bean (*Tylosema esculentum*, Fabaceae): Analysis of the seed. *Economic Botany*, 42, 533-540.
- Bradford, M. A. (1976). Rapid and sensitive method for the quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 72, 248-254.
- Butt, A., Davison, M. D., Smith, G. J., Young, J. A., Gaskell, S. J., Oliver, S. G., & Beynon, R. J. (2001). Chromatographic separation as prelude to twodimensional electrophoresis in proteomics analysis. *Proteomics*, 1, 42-53.
- Castro, S., Silveira, P., Coutinho. P. A., & Figueiredo, E. (2005). Systematic studies in *Tylosema* (Leguminosae). *Botanical Journal of Linnean Society*, 147, 99-115.
- Cerletti, P., Fumagalli, A., & Venturin, D. (1978). Protein composition of seeds of *Lupinus albus. Journal of Food Science*, 43, 1409-1411.
- Cerny, K., & Kordylas, M. (1971). Nutritive value of winged bean (*Psophocarpus palustris* Desv). British Journal of Nutrition, 26, 293-299.
- Chavan, U. D., McKenzie, D. B., & Shahidi, F. (2001). Protein classification of beach pea (*Lathyrus maritimus* L.). *Food Chemistry*, 75, 145-153.
- Chavan, U. D., Shahidi, F., Bal, A. K., & McKenzie, D. B. (1999). Physichochemical properties and nutrient composition of beach pea (*Lathyrus maritimus* L.). *Food Chemistry*, 66, 43-50.
- Chel-Guerrero, L., Scilingo, A. A., Tintoré, G. S., Dávila, G., & Añón, C. M. (2007).
 Physicochemical and structural characterization of Lima Bean (*Phaseolus lunatus*) globulins. *Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft und-Technologie*, 40, 1537-1544.



- Chrispeels, M. J., Baumgartner, B., & Harris, N. (1976). Regulation of reserve protein metabolism in the cotyledons of mung bean seedlings. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 73, 3168-3172.
- Coetzer, L. A., & Ross, J. H. (1976). Tylosema. Trees in South Africa, 28, 77-80.
- Creighton, T. E. (1993). *Proteins: Structures and Molecular Properties* (2nd ed.). New York: Freeman (pp. 290-300).
- Croy, R. R. D., Derbyshire, E., Krishna, T. G., & Boulter, D. (1979). Legumin of *Pisum sativum* and *vicia faba*. *New Phytologist*. 83, 29-35.
- Damodaran, S. (1988). Refolding of thermally unfolded soy proteins during cooling regime of the gelation process: Effect on gelation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *36*, 262-269.
- Damodaran, S. (1989). Influence of protein conformation on its adaptability under chaotropic conditions. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 11, 2-8.
- Damodaran, S. (1996). Amino acids, peptides, and proteins. In O. R. Fennema (Ed.) *Food Chemistry* (3rd ed.) (pp. 321-430), New York, NY: Marcel Dekker, Inc.
- Damodaran, S. (1997). Food proteins: An overview. In S. Damodaran, A. Paraf (Eds.), Food Proteins and their Applications (pp. 1-24), New York, Marcel Dekker, Inc.
- de Onís, M., Monteiro, C., Akré J., & Clugston, G. (1993). The worldwide magnitude of protein-energy malnutrition: An overview from WHO global data base on child growth. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 77, 5, 703-712.
- Derbyshire, E., Wright, D. J., & Boulter, D. (1976). Legumin and vicilin, storage proteins of legume seeds. *Phytochemistry*, 15, 2-34.
- Dobraszczyk, B. J. (1997). The rheological basis of dough stickiness. *Journal of Texture Studies*, 28, 139-162.
- Dubois, M., Lognay, G., Baudart, E., Marlier, M., Severin, M., Dardenne, G., & Malaisse, F. (1995). Chemical characterisation of *Tylosema fassoglensis* (Kotschy) Torre & Hillc oilseed. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 67, 163-167.
- Dulau, I., & Thebaudin, J. Y. (1998). Functional properties of leguminous protein: Application in food. *Grain Legume*, (No. 20, 2nd quarter, pp. 15-16), Quimper, France, ADRIA.

v List of research project topics and materials



- Duranti, M., Restani, P., Poniatowska, M., & Cerletti, P. (1981). The seed globulins of *Lupinus albus*. *Phytochemistry*, 20, 2071-2075.
- Ebeling, W., Hennrich, N., Klockow, M., Metz, H., Orth, D. H., & Lang, H. (1974).
 Proteinase K. from *Tritirachium album Limber*. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 47, 91-97.
- Ene-Obong, H. N., & Carnovale, E. (1992). A comparison of the proximate, mineral and amino acid composition of some known and lesser known legumes in Nigeria. *Food Chemistry*, 43, 169-175.
- Enwere, J. N., & Hung, C. Y. (1996). Some chemical and physical properties of bambara groundnut (*Voandzeia subterranean*, Thouars). *International Journal* of Food Sciences and Nutrition, 47, 469-475.
- Eromosele, O. C., Arogundade, A. L., Eromosele, I. C., & Ademuyiwa, O. (2008). Extractability of African yam bean (*Sphenostylis stenocarpa*) protein in acid, salt, and alkaline aqueous media. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 22, 1622-1628.
- Ezeagu, I. E., & Gowda, L. R. (2006). Protein extractability, fractionation and amino acid composition of some leguminous seeds found in Nigeria. *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, 30, 1–11.
- Ezpeleta, I., Irache, J. M., Stainmesse, S., Chabenat, C., Gueguen, J., Popineau, Y., & Orecchioni, A. M. (1996). Gliadin nanoparticles for the controlled release of alltrans-retinoic acid. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 131, 191–200.
- Fermin, B. C., Hahm, T. S., Radinsky, J. A., Kratochvil, R. J., Hall, J. E., & Lo, Y.
 M. (2005). Effect of proline and glutamine on the functional properties of wheat dough in winter wheat varieties. *Journal of Food Science*, 70, 273-278.
- Fetuga, B. L., Oluyemi, J. A., Adekoya A. A., & Oyenuga, V. A. (1975). A preliminary evaluation of rubber seed, beniseed and bambara groundnut as essential amino acid sources for chicks. *Nigerian Agricultural Journal*, 12, 39-51.
- Fountoulakis, M., & Lahm, H. W. (1998). Hydrolysis and amino acid composition analysis of proteins. *Journal of Chromatography*, 826, 109-134.
- Gahan, B. P. (1984). *Plant Histochemistry and Cytochemistry: An Introduction*, London: Academic Press (pp. 201-243).
- Garcia, M. C., Marina, L. M., Laborda, F., & Torre, M. (1998). Chemical characterisation of commercial soybean products. *Food Chemistry*, 62, 325-331.



- German, B., Damodaran, S., & Kinsella, E. J. (1982). Thermal dissociation and association behaviour of soy proteins. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 30, 807-811.
- Ghandorah, M. O., & El-Shawaf, I. I. S. (1993). Genetic variability, heritability estimates and predicted genetic advance for some characters in faba bean. *Journal of King Saud University*, 5, 207-218.
- Görg, A., Weiss, W., & Dunn, M. J. (2004). Current two-dimensional electrophoresis technology for proteomics. *Proteomics*, 4, 3665–3685.
- Granier, F. (1988). Extraction of plant proteins for two-dimensional electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis*, 9, 712–818.
- Gras, P. W., Carpenter, H. C., & Anderssen, R. S. (2000). Modelling the developmental rheology of wheat-flour dough using extension tests. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 31, 1–13.

Grausgruber, H., Hatzenbichler, E., & Ruckenbauer, P. (2003). Analysis of repeated stickiness measures of wheat dough using a texture analyser. *Journal of Texture Studies*, *34*, 69-82.

- Green, G. A., & Oram, N. R. (1983). Variability for protein and oil quality in *Lupinus* albus. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 9, 271-282.
- Gujska, E., & Khan, K. (1991). Functional properties of extrudates from high starch fractions of navy and pinto beans and corn meal blended with legume high protein fractions. *Journal of Food Science*, 56, 431-435.
- Gujska, E., Reinhard, W. D., & Khan, K. (1994). Physicochemical properties of field pea, pinto and navy bean starches. *Journal of Food Science*, *50*, 634–636.
- Gygi, S. P., Rist, B., & Aebersold, R. (2000). Measuring the gene expression by quantitative proteome analysis. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, *11*, 396-401.
- Hafiz, A. (2005). *Principle and Reaction of Protein Extraction, Purification and Characterisation*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (pp 84-89).
- Hajduch, M., Ganapathy, A., Stein, J. W., & Thelen, J. J. (2005). A systematic proteomic study of seed filling in soybean. Establishment of high-resolution two-dimensional reference maps, expression profiles, and an interactive proteome database. Accessed on http://oilseedproteomic.missouri.ed /soybean.php (access date: 19 April, 2010)
- Hanft, F., & Koehler, P. (2005). Quantification of dityrosine in wheat-flour and dough by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry, 53, 2418–2423.



- Hemanson, A. M. (1986). Soy protein gelation. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists* Society, 63, 658-666.
- Holse, M., Husted, S., & Hansen, Å. (2010). Chemical composition of marama bean (*Tylosema esculentum*) a wild African bean with unexploited potential. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 23,* 648-657.
- Horax, R., Hettiarachchy, N. S., Chen, P., & Jalaluddin, M. (2004). Preparation and characterization of protein isolate from cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp.). *Journal of Food Science*, 69, 114–118.
- Hou, D. H. J., & Chang, S. K. C. (2004). Structural characteristics of purified glycinin from soybeans stored under various conditions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52, 3792-3800.
- Hua, Y., Huang, Y., Qiu, A., & Liu, X. (2005). Properties of soy protein isolate prepared from aqueous alcohol washed soy flakes. *Food Research International*, 38, 273–279.
- Huang, W. N., & Hoseney, R. C. (1999). Isolation and identification of a wheat flour compound causing sticky dough. *Cereal Chemistry*, 76, 276-281.
- Idouraine, A., Yensen, S. B., & Weber, C. W. (1994). Fractionation and partial characterization of tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius*) proteins. *Food Chemistry*, 50, 13-18.
- Irache, J. M., Bergougnoux, L., Ezepeleta, I., Gueguen, J., & Oeccchioni, A. M. (1995). Optimisation and in vitro stability of legumin nanoparticles obtained by coacervation method. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 126, 103-109.
- Joye, I. J., Lagrain, B., & Delcour, J. A. (2009). Endogenous redox agents and enzymes that affect protein network formation during breadmaking. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 50, 1-10.
- Keegan, A. B., & van Staden, J. (1981). Morama bean *Tylosema esculentum*, a plant worthy of cultivation. *South African Journal of Science*, 77, 387.
- Ketshajwang, K. K., Holmback, J., & Yeboah, S. O. (1998). Quality and compositional studies of some edible leguminosae seed oil in Botswana. *Journal of the American Oil Chemist's Society*, 75, 741-743.
- Kikugawa, K., Kato, T., & Hayasaka, A. (1991). Formation of dityrosine and other fluorescent amino acids by reaction with lipid peroxidase of amino acid. *Lipids*, 26, 922-929.



- Kimura, A., Fukuda, T., Zhang, M., Motoyama, S., Maruyama, N., & Utsumi, S. (2008). Comparison of physicochemical properties of 7S and 11S globulins from pea, faba bean, cowpea, and French bean with those of soybeans-French bean 7S globulin exhibits excellent properties. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56, 10273–10279.
- Kinloch, A. J. (1987). *Adhesion and Adhesives: Science and Technology*. London: Chapman and Hall (pp. 78-97).
- Kinsella, J. E. (1979). Functional properties of soy protein. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 56, 242-258.
- Kitabatake, N., Tahara, M., & Doi, E. (1990). Thermal denaturation of soybean protein at low water contents. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry*, 54, 2205-2212.
- Kohnhorst, A. L., Smith, D. M., Uebersax, M. A., & Bennink, M. R. (1990). Compositional, nutritional and functional properties of meals, flours and concentrates from navy and kidney beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). *Journal of Food Quality*, 13, 35-46.
- Kottapalli, K. R., Payton, P., Rakwal, R., Agrawal, G. K., Shibato, J., Mark, B. M., & Puppala, N. (2008). Proteomics analysis of mature seed of four peanut cultivars using two-dimensional gel electrophoresis reveals distinct differential expression of storage, anti-nutritional, and allergenic proteins. *Plant Science*, *175*, 321–329.
- Kramer, P. A. (1974). Albumin microsphere as vehicle for achieving specificity in drug delivery. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Science*, *63*, 196-206.
- Krishnan, H. B. (2005). Engineering soybean for enhanced sulfur amino acid content. *Crop Science*, 45, 454-461.
- Krochta, J. M., & Mulder-Johnston, D. (1997). Edible and biodegradable polymer films: Challenges and opportunities. *Food Technology*, *51*(2), 61–74.
- Labat, E., Morel, M. H., & Rouau, X. (2001). Effect of laccase and manganese peroxidase on wheat gluten and pentosans during mixing. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 15, 47–52.
- Laemmli, U. K. (1970). Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature*, 227, 680-685.
- Letang, C., Piau, M., & Verdier, C. (1999). Characterization of wheat flour-water doughs. Part I: Rheometry and microstructure. *Journal of Food Engineering* 41, 121-132.



- Levit, M. (1981). Effect of proline residue on protein folding. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, *145*, 251-263.
- Lewicki, P. P., & Pawlak, G. (2003). Effect of drying on microstructure of plant tissue. *Drying Technology*, 21, 657-683.
- Lipton, S. H., & Bodwell, C. E. (1976). Specific oxidation of methionine to methionine sulfoxide by dimethyl sulfoxide. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 24, 26-31.
- Lisiewska Z., Kmiecik, W., & Słupski, J. (2007). Content of amino acids in raw and frozen broad beans (*Vicia faba* var. major) seeds at milk maturity stage, depending on the processing method. *Food Chemistry*, *105*, 1468–1473.
- Liu, C., Wang, H., Cui, Z., He, X., Wang, X., Zeng, X., & Ma, H. (2007). Optimization of extraction and isolation for 11S and 7S globulins of soybean seed storage protein. *Food Chemistry*, 102, 1310-1316.
- Loo, J. A., Brown, J., Critchley, G., Mitchell, C., Andrew, P. C., & Ogorzalek, L. R.
 R. (1999). High sensitivity mass spectrometry method for protein separation methods for obtaining intact molecular weight from gel-separated protein. *Electrophoresis*, 20, 743-748.
- Lott, J. N. A. (1981). Protein bodies in seeds. Nordic Journal of Botany, 1, 421-432.
- Lott, J. N. A., & Buttrose, M. S. (1978). Location of reserves of mineral element in seed protein bodies: Macadamia, walnut, and hazel nut. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 56, 2072-2082.
- Lott, J. N. A., Goodchild, D. J., & Craig, S. (1984). Studies of mineral reserves in pea (*Pisum sativum*) cotyledons using low-water-content procedures. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 11, 459-469.
- Lqari, H., Vioque, J., Pedroche, J., Millan, F. (2002). *Lupinus angustifolius* protein isolates: Chemical composition, functional properties and protein characterization, *Food Chemistry*, 76, 349–356.
- Machuka, J., & Okeola, O. (2000). One and two dimensional electrophoretic identification of African yam bean seed protein. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 48, 2296-2299.
- Magni, C., Scarafoni, A., Herndl, A., Sessa, F., Prinsi, B., Espen, L., & Duranti, M. (2007). Combined 2D electrophoretic approaches for the study of white lupine mature seed storage proteome. *Phytochemistry*, 68, 997-1007.



- Martinez, H. W. (1979). The importance of functionality of vegetable protein in food.In H. Wilck, T. D. Hokpin, & H. D. Waggle (Eds.). Soy Protein and Human Nutrition (pp. 53-77). London: Academic Press.
- Maruatona, G. N., Duodu, K. G., & Minnaar, A. (2010). Physicochemical, nutritional and functional properties of marama bean flour. *Food Chemistry*, *121*, 400-405
- Masi, P., Cavella, S., & Sepe, M. (1998). Characterization of dynamic viscoelastic behaviour of wheat flour doughs at different moisture contents. *Cereal Chemistry*, 75, 428–432.
- McWatters, K. H., & Holmes, M. R. (1979). Influence of moist heat on solubility and emulsion properties of soy and peanut flours. *Journal of Food Science*, *44*, 774–776.
- Meng, G. T., & Ma, Y. C. (2001). Thermal properties of *Phaseolus angularis* (red bean) globulin. *Food Chemistry*, 73, 453-460.
- Mengerink, Y., Kutlán, D., Tóth, F., Csámpai, A., & Molnár-Perl, I. (2002). Advances in the evaluation of the stability and characteristics of the amino acid and amine derivatives obtained with the *o*-phthaldialdehyde/3-mercaptopropionic acid and *o*-phthaldialdehyde/N-acetyl-1-cysteine reagents: High-performance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry study. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 949, 99–124.
- Mezger, T. G. (2006). The Rheology Handbook: For Users of Rotational and Oscillatory Rheometers (2nd Ed.). Schiffigraben, Germany: Vincentz Network. (pp. 129-140).
- Michon, T., Wang, W., Ferrasson, E., & Gueguen, J. (1999). Wheat prolamine crosslinking through dityrosine formation catalyzed by peroxidase: Improvement in the modification of a poorly accessible substrate by "indirect" catalysis. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 63, 449-458.
- Miflin, B., & Burgess, R. S. (1982). Protein bodies from developing seed of barley, maize, wheat and peas. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *33*, 251-260.
- Mirsaeedghazi, H., Emam-Djomeh, Z., & Mousavi, S. M. A. (2008). Rheometric measurement of dough rheological characteristics and factors affecting it. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, *10*, 112–119.
- Mmonatau, Y. (2005). Flour from the marama bean: composition and sensory properties in Botswana perspective. MSc thesis, Stellenbosch University, Stellenbosch, South Africa.



- Mo, X., Zhong, Z., Wang, D., & Sun, X. (2006). Soybean glycinin subunits: Characterisation of physicochemical and adhesion properties. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54, 7589-7593.
- Mohan, R. V., & Janardhanan, K. (1995). Chemical analysis and nutritional assessment of lesser known pulses of the genus, mucana. *Food Chemistry*, 53, 275-280.
- Mooney, B. P., & Thelen, J. J. (2004). High-throughput peptide mass fingerprinting of soybean seed proteins: automated workflow and utility of UniGene expressed sequence tag databases for protein identification. *Phytochemistry*, 65, 1733– 1744.
- Mujoo, R., Trinh, T. D., & Ng, K. W. P. (2003). Characterisation of storage proteins in different soybean varieties and their relationship to tofu yield and texture. *Food Chemistry*, 82, 265-273.
- Muntz, K. (1998). Deposition of storage proteins. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 38, 77–99.
- Murray, D. R. (1979). A storage role for albumins in pea cotyledons. *Plant Cell and Environment*, 2, 221–226.
- Musallam, I. W., Al-karaki, G. N., Ereifej, K. I., & Tawaha, A. R. M. (2004). Chemical composition of faba bean genotypes under rainfed and irrigation conditions. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, *6*, 359-362.
- Myers, W. (2002). Successes and failures in achieving the goals of the World Food Summit". In Sustainable Food Security for All by 2020. Proceeding of the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) Conference (100 pp.) Washington, D.C. IFPRI.
- Nagano, T., Fukuda, Y., & Akasaka, T. (1996). Dynamic viscoelastic study on the gelation properties of β -conglycinin-rich and glycinin-rich soybean protein isolates. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 44, 3484-3488.
- Nakai, S. (1983). Structure-function relationships of food proteins with emphasis on the importance of protein hydrophobicity. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 31*, 676-683.
- Nakai, S., Li-chang, E., & Hayakawa, S. (1986). Contribution of protein hydrophobicity to its functionality. *Die Nahrung, 30*, 327-36.
- Nakamura, T., Utsumi, S., & Mori, T. (1986). Interactions during heat induced gelation in a mixed system of soybean 7S and 11S globulins. *Agricultural Biology and Chemistry*, 50, 2429-2435.



- Natarajan, S. S., Xu, C., Bae, H., Caperna, J. T., & Garrett, M. W. (2006). Characterisation of storage proteins in wild (*Glycine soja*) and cultivated (*Glycine max*) soybean seeds using proteomic analysis. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54, 3114-3120.
- Natarajan, S., Xu, C., Bae, H., Bailey, H. A., Cregan, P., Thomas, J., Caperna, T. J., Garrett, W. M., & Luthria, D. (2007). Proteomic and genetic analysis of glycinin subunits of sixteen soybean genotypes. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 45, 436-444.
- Natarajan, S., Xu, C., Caperna, J. T., & Garrett, M. W. (2005). Comparison of protein solubilisation methods suitable for proteomic analysis of soybean seed proteins. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 342, 214-220.
- Nwokolo, E., & Oji, D. I. M. (1985). Variation in metabolisable energy content of raw or autoclaved white and brown varieties of three tropical grain legumes. *Animal Food Science and Technology*, *13*, 141–146.
- Odeigah, C. G. P., & Osanyinpeju, O. A. (1998). Evaluating the genetic biodiversity of bambara groundnut accessions from Nigeria using SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. *Genetic Resource and Crop Evaluation*, 45, 451-458.
- Ologhobo A. D., & Fetuga, B. L. (1984). The effect of processing on the trypsin inhibitor, haemagglutinin, tannic acid, and phytic acid contents of seeds of ten cowpea varieties. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 8, 31–41.
- Omi, Y., Kato, T., Ishida, K. I., Kato, H., & Matsuda, T. (1996). Pressure-induced release of basic 7S globulin from cotyledon dermal tissue of soybean seeds. *Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry*, 44, 3763-3767.
- Onyeike, E. N., & Acheru, G. N. (2002). Chemical composition of selected Nigerian oilseeds and physicochemical properties of the oil extracts. *Food Chemistry*, 77, 431–437.
- Oom, A., Petterssson, A., Taylor, J. R. N., & Stading, M. (2008). Rheological properties of kafirin and zein prolamins. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 47, 109-116.
- Ortiz, M. S. E., Puppo, M. C., Wagner, J. R. (2004). Relationship between structural changes and functional properties of soy protein isolates-carrageenan systems. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *18*, 1045-1953.
- Orth, R. A., & Bushuk, W. A. (1972). A comparative study of the proteins of wheats of diverse baking qualities. *Cereal Chemistry*, 49, 268-275.

Osborne, T. B. (1924). The Vegetable Proteins (2nd ed.). New York: Longmans.



- Oshodi, A.A., Ipinmoroti, K. O., Adeyeye, I. E., & Hall, M. G. (1995). Amino acid and fatty acids composition of African yam bean (*Sphenostylis stenocarpa*) flour. *Food Chemistry*, 53, 1-6.
- Owusu-apenten, R. (2005). Introduction to Food Chemistry. Washington DC: CRC Press (pp. 83-121).
- Papadakis, S. E., & Babu, R. E. (1992). The sticky issues of drying. Drying Technology, 10, 817-837.
- Park, K., & Robinson, R. (1984). Bioadhesive polymers as platforms for oral controlled drug delivery: Method to study bioadhesion. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 19, 107–127.
- Peña, E., Bernardo, A., Soler, C., & Jouve, N. (2006). Do tyrosine crosslinks contribute to the formation of the gluten network in common wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) dough? *Journal of Cereal Science*, 44, 144-153.
- Petruccelli, S., & Añón, M. C. (1995). Thermal aggregation of soy protein isolates, Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 43, 3035–3041.
- Pickering M., & Newton, P. (1990). Amino acid hydrolysis: Old problems, new solutions. *LC-GC International*, *3*, 22–26.
- Posh, A., Paulus, A., & Brubacher, M. (2006). Tool for sample preparation and prefractionation in two-diemensional (2D) electrophoresis. In G. B. Smejkal, & A. Lazarev (Eds.), *Separation Methods in Proteomics* (pp. 107-128). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Prakash, V., & Narasinga Rao, M. S. (1988). Structural similarities among the high molecular weight protein fractions of oilseeds. *Journal of Biosciences*, 13, 2, 171-180.
- Prattley, C. A., & Stanley, D. W. (1982). Protein-phytate interactions in soybean. I. Localisation of phytate in protein bodies and globoids. *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, 6, 243-253.
- Pusztai, A., Croy, R. R. D., Stewart, J. C., & Watt, W. B. (1979). Protein body membranes of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. cotyledons: Isolation and preliminary characterization of constituent proteins. *New Phytologist*, 83, 371-378.
- Rahman, E. H. (1988). Functional and electrophoretic characteristics of faba bean (*Vicia faba*) flour protein as affected by germination. *Die Nahrung*, *32*, 577.
- Rahman, E. H., Dudek, S., Mothes, R., Grönitz, E., & Schwenke, K. D. (2000).
 Physicochemical characterisation of mung bean (*Phaseolus aureus*) protein isolates. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 80, 477 483.


- Rajaram, N., & Janardhanan, K. (1991). Chemical composition and nutritional potential of the tribal pulses *Buuhiniu purpureu*. *B. rucemosa* and *B. vuhlii*. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 55, 423-431.
- Rao, M. B., Tanskale, A. M., Chatge, M. S., & Despande, V. V. (1998). Molecular and biochemical aspects of microbial proteases. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Review*, 62, 597-635.
- Remondetto, G., Añón, C. M., & Gonzalez, J. R. (2001). Hydration properties of soybean protein isolates. *Brazilian Achieves of Biology and Technology*, 44, 425-431.
- Renkema, J. M. S., Knabben, J. H. M., & van Vliet, T. (2001). Gel formation by βconglycinin and glycinin and their mixtures. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 15, 407-414.
- Riblett, R. C., Herald, T. J., Schmidt, K. A., & Tilley, K. A. (2001). Characterisation of β-conglycinin and glycinin soy protein fractions from four selected soybean genotypes. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *49*, 4983–498.
- Righetti, P. G., Castagna, A., & Herbert, B. (2001). Prefractionation techniques in proteome analysis. *Analytical Chemistry*, 73, 320-326.
- Ripperger-Suhler, J. A. (1983). Protein quality of the African morama bean. MSc. Thesis, University of Texas, Austin, IX .
- Rodriguez-Lopez, J. N., Lowe, D. J., Hernandez-Ruiz, J., Hiner, A. N. P., Garcia-Canovas, F., & Thorneley, R. N. F. (2001). Mechanism of reaction of hydrogen peroxide with horseradish peroxidase: Identification of intermediate in the catalytic cycle. *Journal of the American Chemists' Society*, *123*, 11838-11847.
- Rodriguez-Mateos, A., Millar, S. J., Bhandari, D. G., & Frazier, R. A. (2006).
 Formation of dityrosine crosslinks during bread making. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54, 2761-2766.
- Roth, M. (1971). Fluorescence reaction of amino acids. *Analytical Chemistry*, 43, 880-882.
- Saio, K., & Monma, M. (1993). Microstructural approach to legume seeds for food uses. *Food Structure*, 12, 333-341.
- Salunkhe, D. K., Kadam, S. S., & Chavan, J. K. (1985). Chemical composition. In D.
 K. Salunkhe, S. S. Kadam and J. K. Chavan (Eds.), *Postharvest Biotechnology* of Food Legumes (pp. 29-52). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.

List of research project topics and materials



- Sammour, R. H., El-Shourbagy, M. N., Abo-Shady, A. M., & Abasary, A. M. (1995). Characterisation of sunflower seed proteins by electrophoretic techniques. *Arab Gulf Journal of Scientific Research*, 13, 591-601.
- Sathe, S. K., & Venkatachalam, M. (2007). Fraction and biochemical characterisation of moth bean (*Vigna aconitifolia* L.) proteins. *Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft und-Technologie*, 40, 600-610.
- Sathe, S. K. (2002). Dry bean protein functionality. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, 22, 175-223.
- Sathe, S. K., Mason, A. C., & Weaver, C. M. (1989). Thermal aggregation of soybean (*Glycine max* L.) sulfur-rich protein. *Journal of Food Science*, *54*, 319–323.
- Sato, K., Yamagishi, T., Kamata, Y., & Yamauchi, F. (1987). Subunit structure and immunological properties of a basic 7S globulin from soybean seeds. *Phytochemistry*, 26, 903-908.
- Schawe, J. E. K. (1995). Principles for the interpretation of modulated temperature DSC measurements. Part 1. Glass transition, *Thermochimica Acta*, 261, 183-194.
- Schober, T. J., Bean, S. R., Boyle, D. L., & Park, S. H. (2008). Improved viscoelastic zein–starch doughs for leavened gluten-free breads: Their rheology and microstructure. *Journal of Cereal Science* 48, 755–767.
- Scilingo, A. A., & Añón, M. C. (1996). Calorimetric study of soybean protein isolates: Effect of calcium and thermal treatments. *Journal of Agricultural* and. Food Chemistry, 44, 3751–3756.
- Sefa-Dedeh, S., & Stanley, D. W. (1979). Microstruture of cowpea variety Adua Ayera. Cereal Chemistry, 56, 367-371.
- Selinheimo, E., Autio, K., Kruus, K., & Buchert, J. (2007). Elucidating the mechanism of laccase and tyrosinase in wheat bread making. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55, 6357-6365.
- Shand, P. J., Ya, H., Pietrasik, Z., & Wanasundara, P. K. J. P. D. (2007). Physicochemical and textural properties of heat-induced pea protein isolate gel. *Food Chemistry*, 102, 119-130.
- Shepherd, A. D. (1979). Laboratory abrasive decorticating mill for small grains. *Cereal Chemistry*, 56, 545-548.
- Shimada, K., & Matsushita, S. (1980). Gel formation of soybean 7S and 11S proteins. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry*, 44, 637-641.



- Sliwinski, E. L., Kolster, P., Prins, A., & van Vliet, T. (2004). On the relationship between gluten protein composition of wheat flours and large-deformation properties of their doughs. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 39, 247-264.
- Song, Y., & Zheng, Q. (2007). Dynamic rheological properties of wheat flour dough and proteins. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, *18*, 132–138.
- Sorgentini, A. D., Wagner, R. J., & Añón, C. M. (1995). Effect of thermal treatment of soy protein isolate on the characteristics and structure –function relation of soluble and insoluble fractions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. 43, 2471-2479.
- Steven, P. G., Rist, B., & Aebersold, R. (2000). Measuring gene expression by quantitative proteome analysis. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, *11*, 396-401.
- Stewart K., Spedding, P. L., Otterburn, M. S., Lewis, D. M. (1997). Surface layer of wool I. Dityrosine synthesis and characterization. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 242, 202-213.
- Sun, X. S. (2005). Soy protein adhesive. In R. P. Wool, & X. S. Sun (Eds), *Biobased Polymers and Composites* (pp. 328-366), Burlington, MA: Academic Press.
- Takasaki, S., Kato, Y., Murata, M., Homma, S., & Kawakishi, S. (2005). Effect of peroxidase and hydrogen peroxide on dityrosine formation and the mixing characteristics of wheat-flour dough. *Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, 69, 1686-1692.
- Tang, C. H. (2008). Thermal denaturation and gelation of vicilin-rich protein isolates from three *Phaseolus* legumes: A comparative study. *Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft und-Technologie*, 41, 1380–1388.
- Tang, C. H., Chen, L., & Ma, C. Y. (2009). Thermal aggregation, amino acid composition and in vitro digestibility of vicilin-rich protein isolates from three *Phaseolus* legumes: A comparative study. *Food Chemistry*, 113, 957–963.
- Tay, S. L., & Perera, C. O. (2004). Physicochemical properties of 7S and 11S protein mixtures coagulated by glucono-δ- lactone. *Journal of Food Science*, 69, 139-143.
- Taylor, J., Bean, S. R., Ioerger, B. P., & Taylor, J. R. N. (2007). Preferential binding of sorghum tannins with γ -kafirin and the influence of tannin binding on kafirin digestibility and biodegradation. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 46, 22–31.
- Thanh, V. H., & Shibasaki, K. (1979). Major proteins of soybean seeds: A Straightforward fraction and their characterisation. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry, 24, 1117-1121.



- Tilley, K. A., Benjamin, E. R., Bagorogoza E. K., Okot-Kotber, M. B., Prakash, O., & Kwen, H. (2001). Tyrosine cross-links: Molecular basis of gluten structure and function. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49, 2627-2632.
- Tolstoguzov, B. V. (1993). Functional properties of food proteins: Role of interaction in protein systems. In K. D. Schwenke, & R. Mothes (Eds.), *Food Protein Structure and Functionality* (pp. 204-215), Weinheim, VHC.
- Tonge, R., Shaw, J., Middleton, B., Rowlinson, R., Rayner, S., Young, J., Pognan, F., Hawkins, E., Currie, I., & Davison, M. (2001). Validation and development of fluorescence two-dimensional differential gel electrophoresis proteomics technology. *Nature Biotechnology*, 1, 377-396.
- Torrezan, R., Tham, W. P., Bell, A. E., Frazier, R. A., & Cristianini, M. (2007). Effects of high pressure on functional properties of soy protein. *Food Chemistry*, 104, 140-147.
- Tronsmo, K. M., Magnus, E. M., Baardseth, P., Schofield, J. D., Aamodt, A., & Færgestad, E. M. (2003). Comparison of small and large deformation rheological properties of wheat dough and gluten. *Cereal Chemistry*, 80, 587– 595.
- Tsiami, A. A., Agterof, W. G. M., & Groot, R. D. (1997). Rheological properties of glutenin subfractions in relation to their molecular weight. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 26, 15-27.
- Tully, R. E., & Beevers, H. (1976). Protein bodies of castor bean endosperm: Isolation, fractionation, and the characterization of protein components. *Plant Physiolology*, 58, 710-716.
- Uruakpa, F. O., & Arntfield, S. D. (2006). Impact of urea on the microstructure of commercial canola protein–carrageenan network: A research note. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 38, 115–119.
- Ushijima, Y., Nakano, M., & Goto, T. (1984). Production and identification of bityrosine in horseradish peroxidase-H₂O₂-tyrosine system. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, *125*, 916-918.
- Utsumi, S., & Kinsella, J. E. (1985). Forces involved in soy protein gelation: Effects of various reagents on the formation, hardness and solubility of heat-induced gels made from 7S, 11S and soy isolate. *Journal of Food Science*, *50*, 1278-1282.
- Vasconcelos, I. M., Maia, F. M. M., Farias, D. F., Campello, C. C., Carvalho, A. F. U., Moreira, R. deA., & de Oliveira, J. T. A. (2010). Protein fractions, amino 107



acid composition and antinutritional constituents of high-yielding cowpea cultivars. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 23, 54-60.

- Venkatachalam, M., & Sathe, S. (2006). Chemical composition of selected edible nut seeds. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54, 4705-4714.
- Vijayakumari, K., Siddhuraju, P., & Janardhanan, K. (1997). Chemical composition, amino acid content and protein quality of the little-known legume *Bauhinia purpurea* L. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 73, 279–86.
- Wagner, J. R., & Gueguen, J. J. (1995). Effect of dissociation, deamination and reducing treatment on structural and surface active properties of soy glycinin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 43, 1993–2000.
- Wagner, J. R., & Añón, M. C. (1990). Influence of denaturation, hydrophobicity and sulfhydryl content on solubility and water absorbing capacity of soy protein isolates. *Journal of Food Science*, 55, 765–770.
- Wang, X., Gao, W., Zhang, J., Zhang, H., Li, J. X. H., & Ma, H. (2010). Subunit, amino acid composition and in vitro digestibility of protein isolate from chinesse chicpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) cultivars. *Food Research International*, 43, 567-572.
- Waston, D. J. (1976). Chemical composition of some less commonly used legumes in Ghana. *Food Chemistry*, 2, 267-271.
- Wathelet, B. (1999). Nutritional analyses for proteins and amino acids in beans (*Phaseolus* sp.). *Biotechnology, Agronomy, Society and Environment*, 3, 197– 200.
- Weipert, D. (1990). The benefits of basic rheometry in studying dough rheology. *Cereal Chemistry*, 6, 311-317.
- Wells, B. J., Mainous, A. G., & Everett, C. J. (2005). Association between dietary arginine and C-reactive protein. *Nutrition*, 21, 125-130.
- Woodley, J. F., & Naisbett, B. (1988). The potential of lectins for delaying the intestinal transit of drugs. *International Symposium on Controlled Release of Bioactive Materials*, 15, 125-126.
- Wu, W. H., Lu, J. Y., Jones, A. R., Mortley, D. G., Loretan, P. A., Bonsi, C. K., & Hill, W. A. (1997). Proximate composition, amino acid profile, fatty acid composition, and mineral content of peanut seeds hydroponically grown at elevated CO₂ levels. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 45, 3863-3866.



- Wu, Y. V., & Hojilla-Evangelista, M. P. (2005). Lesquerella fendleri protein fractionation and characterisation. Journal of American Oil Chemists' Society, 82, 53-56.
- Yagasaki, K., Takagi, T., Sakai, M., & Kitamura, K. (1997). Biochemical characterization of soybean protein consisting of different subunits of glycinin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 45, 656–660.
- Yamada, T., Aibara, S., & Morita, Y. (1979). Isolation and some properties of arachin subunits. *Agricultural Biology and Chemistry*, 43, 2563-2568.
- Yamauchi, F., Sato, K., & Yamagishi, T. (1984). Isolation and partial characterization of a salt-extractable globulin from soybean seeds. *Agricultural Biology and Chemistry*, 48, 645-650.
- Yamauchi, F., Yamagishi, T., & Iwabuchi, S. (1991). Molecular understanding of heat-induced phenomena of soybean protein. *Food Reviews International*, 7, 283-322.
- Young, C. T., Pattee, E. H., Schadel, E. W., & Sander, H. T. (2004). Microstructure of peanut (Arachis hypogaea L. cv 'NC 7') cotyledons during development. Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft und-Technologie, 37, 439-445.
- Young, C. T., Worthington, R. E., Hammons, R. O., Matlock, R. S., Waller, G. R., & Morrisson, R. D. (1974). Fatty acid composition of Spanish peanuts oil as influencing by planting location, soil moisture condition, variety and season. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 57, 312-315.
- Yuan, D. B., Yang X. Q., Tang, C. H., Zheng, Z. X., Ahmad, I. W. M., & Yin, S. W. (2009). Physicochemical and functional properties of acidic and basic polypeptides of soy glycinin. *Food Research International*, 42, 700–706.
- Yusuf, A. A., Ayedun, H., & Sanni, L. O. (2008). Chemical composition and functional properties of raw and roasted Nigerian benniseed (*Sesamum indicum*) and bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranean*). *Food Chemistry*, 111, 277-282.
- Zaidel, D. N. A., Chin, N. L., & Yusof, Y. A. (2010). A review on rheological properties and measurements of dough and gluten. *Journal of Applied Science*, 10, 2478-2490.
- Zarkadas, C. G., Gagnon, C., Gleddie, S., Khanizadeh S., Cober, R. E., & Guillemette, D. J. R. (2007). Assessment of the protein quality of fourteen soybean (*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.) cultivars using amino acid analysis and twodimensional electrophoresis. *Food Research International*, 40, 129–146.



- Zhang, Y., Simsek, S., Campanella, O. S., Ohm, J. B., Chang, H., Bradley L., Reuhs, B., & Mergoum, M. (2009). Rheological changes in refrigerated dough during storage in relation to protein. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, (DOI:10.1111/j.1745-4530.2009.00415.x).
- Zhao, X., Chen, F., Xue, W., & Lee, L. (2008). FTIR spectra studies on the secondary of 7S and 11S globulins from soybean proteins using AOT reverse micellar extraction. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 22, 568-575.
- Zhu, S., Bulut, S., Le Bail, A., & Ramaswamy, H. S. (2004). High-Pressure Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC): equipment and technique validation using water–ice phase-transition data. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, 27, 359–376.



7. PUBLICATION, PRESENTATIONS AND CONFERENCES ATTENDED BASED ON THIS WORK.

- Amonsou, E., Taylor, J., & Minnaar, A. (2011). Microstructure of protein bodies in marama bean species. *Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft und-Technologie*, 37, 439-445.
- Amonsou, E. O., Taylor, J. R. N., & Minnaar, A. Protein composition and protein body structure of marama bean. *CST-SA – ICC International Grains Symposium*, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa, 3-5 February, 2010.
- Amonsou, E. O., Taylor, J. R. N., & Minnaar, A. Marama protein composition and functionality. *Final consortium meeting for the MARAMA II Project*, Cape Town, South Africa, 20-21 August, 2010.
- Amonsou, E. O., Taylor, J. R. N., Beukes, M., & Minnaar, A. Composition of marama bean protein. 15th World Congress of Food Science & Technology, Cape Town, South Africa, 22-26 August, 2010.